Georgia State University ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

Public Health Dissertations

School of Public Health

1-5-2024

Mathematical Modeling to Support Public Health Officials with Evaluating Immunization and Non-pharmaceutical Intervention Strategies During and Outside Periods of Outbreak Response

Gabriel Rainisch Georgia State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/sph_diss

Recommended Citation

Rainisch, Gabriel, "Mathematical Modeling to Support Public Health Officials with Evaluating Immunization and Non-pharmaceutical Intervention Strategies During and Outside Periods of Outbreak Response." Dissertation, Georgia State University, 2024. doi: https://doi.org/10.57709/36395125

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Public Health at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Public Health Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Title: Mathematical modeling to support public health officials with evaluating immunization and non-pharmaceutical intervention strategies during and outside periods of outbreak response

Author: Gabriel Rainisch, Georgia State University (GSU), School of Public Health

Doctoral Dissertation Committee: Gerardo Chowell, Chair (GSU), Martin Meltzer (CDC), Alexander Kirpich (GSU)

Dissertation Coauthors:

Chapter 2: Bishwa Adhikari¹, Martin I Meltzer¹, Gayle Langley¹ Chapter 3: Eduardo A. Undurraga^{2,3}, Gerardo Chowell⁴

Chapter 4: Seonghye Jeon¹, Danielle Pappas¹, Kimberly D. Spencer¹, Leah S. Fischer¹, Bishwa Adhikari¹, Melanie M. Taylor¹, Bradford Greening Jr. ¹, Patrick K. Moonan¹, John E. Oeltmann¹, Emily B. Kahn¹, Michael L. Washington¹, Martin I. Meltzer¹

Author Affiliations:

¹US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), Atlanta, GA, USA.

² Escuela de Gobierno, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile, RM, Chile.

³ Millennium Initiative for Collaborative Research in Bacterial Resistance (MICROB-R), RM, Chile.

⁴ Department of Population Health Sciences, School of Public Health, Georgia State University, Atlanta, GA, USA).

Correspondence to: Gabriel Rainisch, email: grainis@gmail.com

Disclaimer: The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the author for the purpose of satisfying the dissertation's structure and content requirements and do not represent the official position of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

Copyrights

The individual studies described in Chapters 2-4 and their associated appendices were published in peer reviewed online journals as follows. Anyone referencing the individual works should use the citations provided here.

Chapter 2:

Rainisch, G., Adhikari, B., Meltzer, M. I., & Langley, G. (2020). Estimating the impact of multiple immunization products on medically-attended respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infections in infants. *Vaccine*, *38*(2), 251-257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.10.023</u>

Chapter 3:

Rainisch G, Undurraga EA, Chowell G. A dynamic modeling tool for estimating healthcare demand from the COVID19 epidemic and evaluating population-wide interventions. Int J Infect Dis. 2020 Jul;96:376-383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2020.05.043</u>

Chapter 4:

Rainisch G, Jeon S, Pappas D, et al. Estimated COVID-19 Cases and Hospitalizations Averted by Case Investigation and Contact Tracing in the US. JAMA Netw Open. 2022;5(3):e224042. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.4042

ABSTRACT

A growing number of public health officials rely on mathematical modeling to aid in making decisions, especially during outbreak responses. Math models simulate health phenomenon with equations and are useful for forecasting a disease's progression in a population and evaluating the potential effects of interventions. We generated three models to aid practicing health officials with addressing real-world issues.

The first model estimates the impact of immunization strategies on RSV-associated lower respiratory tract infections (LRTIs) among infants <12 months. Users input RSV burden and seasonality and examine the influence of altering product efficacy and uptake assumptions. We used the model to evaluate anticipated immunization products among a US birth cohort. We estimated without immunization, 339,650 - 475,980 LRTIs are attended annually in outpatient clinics, 126,070 - 168,510 in emergency departments (EDs), and 24,760 - 42,900 in hospitals. A passive antibody candidate given to all infants prevented the most LRTIs: 48% of outpatient visits without immunization, 51% of ED visits, and 55% of hospitalizations.

Our second model creates projections of healthcare demand during the early phase of the COVID19 pandemic and evaluates the impacts of social-distancing interventions. Users input case counts, healthcare resources, and select intervention strategies. Using data from Chile, we illustrated the tool as the pandemic unfolded there in April 2020. Our scenarios indicated COVID19 patients could overwhelm hospitals by June 2020, peaking in July or August at more than 6 times the current supply of beds and ventilators. A lockdown strategy or combination of case isolation, home-quarantine, social distancing individuals >70 years, and telework interventions could keep treatment demand below capacity.

3

Our third model estimated the impact of COVID19 case investigation and contact tracing programs (CICT) in the US. By inputting CICT program data from 23 jurisdictions into our model we estimated CICT averted between 1.1 to 1.4 million cases over 60 days during the pandemic's first winter peak. Our upper estimate assumes all interviewed cases and monitored contacts complied with isolation and quarantine guidelines, while the lower estimate assumes fractions of interviewed cases and contacts did so. These results suggest CICT programs played a critical role in curtailing the pandemic.

Dedication

To my late father, Reuben Rainisch, who valued education and hard work above most other things. Teddy Roosevelt once said, 'Far and away the best prize that life has to offer is a chance to work hard at work worth doing'. My father earned this prize one hundred times over. I can imagine your smile and pride as I hand you this dissertation.

To Scott Santibanez and the late Toby Merlin, leaders of public health, who planted the idea that I was worthy of a PhD and then found a way to support that pursuit when I believed them.

And, to Martin Meltzer, simply the best boss one could wish for. You inspire, teach, challenge, guide, sustain, and lead. Wherever you go I would follow.

Acknowledgements

Thank you to the love of my life, Krissy, for shouldering the extra responsibilities of parenthood and our household so I could pursue this goal, and for your wisdom and kindness along the way. And to my mother, Zipora, for pushing me to be the best version of myself and make my mark in this world.

Additionally, I wish to thank the following individuals for their assistance with work herein:

Alexandra Wheatley, Ismael Ortega-Sanchez, Aaron Curns, and Susan Gerber for your input and feedback on Study 1.

Shannon Self-Brown for feedback on Study 2's manuscript and Marcelo Arenas and Rafael Araos for thoughtful comments and suggestions about applicability of the modeling tool in the Chilean context.

Alison Stargel and Alvin Shultz with CDC's Epidemiology and Laboratory Capacity (ELC) Program for assistance with data use and interpretation for Study 3; and all of CDC's Prevention and Control of Emerging Infectious Diseases Cooperative Agreement recipients, including state, local and territorial health departments, for the use of their CICT process metrics.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1 – Introduction and Statement of Purpose	. 9
CHAPTER 2 – Study 1: Estimating the Impact of Anticipated Immunization Products on Medically-attended Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) in Infants in the US	13
CHAPTER 3 – Study 2: A Dynamic Modeling Tool for Estimating Healthcare Demand in the Early Phase of the COVID-19 Pandemic and Evaluating Population-wide Interventions	31
CHAPTER 4 – Study 3: Estimated COVID19 Cases and Hospitalizations Averted by Case Investigation and Contact Tracing in the US	51
CHAPTER 5 – Dissertation Summary and Future Directions of Research	66
REFERENCES	70
APPENDICES	75

List of Tables

Table 1. RSV Immunization Strategies 1	6
Table 2. Inputs and Parameter Values for All RSV Immunization Impact Scenarios 1	8
Table 3. COVID-19 Social-Distancing Intervention Strategies and Effects on Transmission 3	34
Table 4. Risk of Healthcare Use and Outcomes Among COVID19-Infected Individuals 3	37
Table 5. COVID19 Healthcare Demand Model Inputs, by Region for all Illustrative Scenarios	10
Table 6. Assumed proportions of confirmed COVID19 cases and their contacts that effectively	
isolated or quarantined in each analysis scenario5	55
Table 7. COVID19 Case Investigation and Contact Tracing Effectiveness and Health Impacts, b	уy
US Census Region (from 11/25/20 – 1/23/21)6	50
Table 8. Model attributes associated with useful, trusted, and accessible models from a public	
health practitioners perspective ϵ	58

List of Figures

Figure 1. Estimated number of RSV-associated LRTI Visits Expected without Immunization and
Prevented by Immunization in the US, by Healthcare Setting and Immunization Strategy 23
Figure 2. Sensitivity of Estimates of RSV-associated LRTI Visits Prevented to Select Model
Parameters
Figure 3. Projected occupancy demands and capacity for hospital (non-ICU) beds in Región
Metropolitana with and without intervention
Figure 4. Sensitivity analysis: Effects of the Duration of COVID19 Intervention Strategy 2 (case
isolation, home quarantine, social distancing of population >70 years of age, and telework) on
Hospital Bed Occupancy Demands in Región Metropolitana 46
Figure 5. Sensitivity Analysis: Effects of a 2-month Lockdown Suppression Strategy alone (A)
and followed by various mitigation strategies (C-D) for 6 months on Hospital Bed Occupancy
Demands by COVID19 Cases 47
Figure 6. Estimated COVID-19 Cases Averted by Case Investigation and Contact Tracing, by
Jurisdiction, November 25, 2020-January 23, 2021 (60 days)

List of Abbreviations

- CDC US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
- CFR Case Fatality Rate
- CHD Congenital heart disease
- CI 95% Confidence Interval
- CICT Case Investigation and Contact Tracing
- CLDP Chronic Lung Disease of Prematurity
- **ED** Emergency Department

ELC - Epidemiology and Laboratory Capacity for Prevention and Control of Emerging Infectious Diseases program

- ICU Intensive Care Unit
- **IFR** Infection Fatality Rate
- MA-LRTI Medically-attended Lower Respiratory Tract Infection
- **NPIs** Non-pharmaceutical Interventions
- \mathbf{OoS} Out-of-Season birth
- SEIR Susceptible-Latent-Infectious-Recovered Compartmental Model
- **RSV** Respiratory Syncytial Virus
- RSV I²M RSV Immunization Impact Model
- **R** Reproduction Number
- RM Región Metropolitana
- WiS Within-Season birth

CHAPTER 1 – Introduction and Statement of Purpose

Public Health Officials routinely face the need to make decisions without all the desired information for doing so. For example, determining the populations that should receive newly licensed vaccine or its regimen scheduling often rely on the results from a few clinical trials which have limited generalizability to the larger population. And during the early phases of an infectious disease outbreak, officials may need to intervene before having a complete understanding of the outbreak's characteristics, for fear that substantial and preventable morbidity and mortality may occur. A growing number of public health officials are relying on mathematical modeling to assist with decision-making in the absence of desired information. Mathematical models are descriptions of phenomenon using equations. They are imperfect abstractions of the real world that are useful for simulating how phenomenon may play out in future or studying phenomenon which can't be tested due to the expense or ethical and logistical reasons. Models permit public health officials the opportunity to manipulate aspects of a disease or response (i.e., inputs) to see their effects on health outcomes (i.e., outputs). This is known as using a model to answer "what-if" questions: "What if we did this?", or "What if this happens?". In the above examples, public health officials may use modeling to examine the effects of deploying immunizations or non-pharmaceutical intervention strategies in different ways. The results from modeling provide quantifiable results showing strategies' absolute and relative values (compared to each other). They can also use modeling to appreciate the influence of

unknown or unmeasurable quantities on these estimates. Furthermore, modeling can simulate what would have happened in the absence of public health interventions, permitting evaluation of their impact on health outcomes after they've been implemented.

9

This dissertation's aim was to generate mathematical models that can be used by practicing public health officials to address real-world, unfolding public health issues, and to illustrate the models' value by using them to generate results that can inform decision-making. I pursue this aim through three modeling studies (Chapters 2-5): 1) an examination of the impact of directly or indirectly immunizing infants in the US against respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection with anticipated¹ immunization products, 2) forecasting the healthcare demands during the early phases of the COVID-19 pandemic and evaluating the effects of social-distancing mitigation strategies on the forecasted trajectories, and 3) estimating the number of COVID-19 cases and hospitalizations averted by case investigation and contact tracing (CICT) programs across the US during the pandemic's first winter peak.

With these three models I also aim to demonstrate the value of models which embrace design elements that make them specifically suited for use by public health practitioners in an applied setting. While each model deals with a separate practical public health issue, all contain common design elements that distinguish them from models used in research or for extending theoretical knowledge of disease transmission. First, all of the models are implemented in spreadsheets (specifically, Microsoft Excel) versus being coded in a software (e.g., R, SAS, MATLAB). Spreadsheets are familiar to our intended audience, eliminating the need for users to buy or learn how to use a software before they can use the model. The familiarity with spreadsheets may also engender comfort with using the model and trust in our calculation's transparency and logic, which our intended audience will likely find easier to follow than coded programming. This is due to most public health officials having little formal training in modeling methods (statistical or mathematical), and, as such, unfamiliarity often generates suspicion and caution. A second

¹ at the time of project conception and completion of analyses

design element common to all three models is an emphasis on balancing complexity and utility: we chose the simplest useful model for answering the very specific questions that each was designed for. While no model can perfectly reflect the reality of disease dynamics in a population, models attempting to do so would necessarily require too many parameters and relationships between them to have any practical value. We chose model frameworks and made simplifying assumptions that deliberately reduced the number of required inputs and the complexity of calculations, while still maintaining disease dynamics and features of the public health response officials would deem necessary. For example, we only required users input data we expected them to be familiar with and could reasonably obtain or estimate. And all calculations dealing with tracking case-patient counts over time were executed in discrete steps (e.g., compounded per day), permitting our use of simpler algebraic math versus the need for calculus-based equations. In our efforts to simplify our models, we also chose to make them deterministic versus stochastic. That is, the inputs and parameters in our models are fixed by the user instead of allowing for stochasticity (i.e., randomness or chance) to vary them with each model run. As such, our models produce the same result each time a given set of inputs are used, permitting health officials to more readily grasp the influence each input has on their outcome of interest. But employing "simpler" deterministic models does not mean our models do not account for uncertainties inherent in modeling. On the contrary, dealing with uncertainty is a distinguishing design element of our models: In all model interfaces we emphasize for the user what is known and its source, what is unknown, and how the model deals with this absence of information. Sometimes the unknown information is estimated, in other instances we assume values based on peer-reviewed literature, and/or we allow users to use multiple values (i.e., a range) simultaneously to define unknown parameters, so that the results of the model are output as a range.

In my efforts to develop models for these studies that espouse these design elements, I faced the same methodological choices and considerations all modelers do: what type of model to use, what features of the disease, population, and response do I want to include, how do I ensure my model is "good" enough for the intended user or audience, and how do I evaluate these choices? In Chapter 5, I offer some lessons learned from examining these considerations and summarize the overall contributions and implications of these studies to their field of research.

CHAPTER 2 – Study 1: Estimating the Impact of Anticipated Immunization Products on Medically-attended Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) in Infants in the US

INTRODUCTION

Globally, respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) is a leading cause of severe respiratory tract infections among young children. In 2015, there were an estimated 33.1 million acute lower respiratory tract infections, 3.2 million hospital admissions and 59,600 in-hospital deaths attributed to RSV infections (RSVi) among children <5 years of age worldwide. About 45% of RSV-associated hospitalizations and deaths occurred among children <6 months of age [1]. Each year in the United States, ~1.5 million outpatient visits, ~500,000 emergency department (ED) visits, ~58,000 hospitalizations and ~150 deaths are associated with RSVi among children under 5 years of age [2, 3]. Rates of medically-attended RSVi (MA-RSVi) in the United States are highest amongst infants <6 months of age [4, 5]. In the US and other temperate climates, RSV season generally lasts six months between fall and spring with a peak during the winter [6]. In countries with tropical or subtropical climates, the season may be longer and less predictable [7]. Palivizumab, currently¹ the only licensed product to prevent RSVi, is recommended for use in children with certain "high risk" conditions [8]. It is given in monthly intramuscular injections during RSV season. There are over 40 vaccine and antibody products in development for prevention of RSVi [9]. Two products in late stages of clinical development target young infants: 1) a monoclonal antibody designed to provide direct protection (completed phase 2b clinical trial) [10]; and 2) a maternal vaccine designed to provide indirect protection through passive placental transfer of antibodies (completed phase 3 clinical trial) [11]. Both of these products aim to protect against medically-attended lower respiratory tract infections (MA-LRTI) due to RSV. Additional maternal vaccines and antibody products are in the clinical development pipeline [9].

Previous studies have evaluated the potential impacts of immunization on MA-RSVi in a variety of countries [12-13]. These analyses have focused on the hospital setting and impacts from single, theoretical vaccine products. Only one (Cromer et al.) simultaneously compared multiple products in the later stages of clinical development and across several healthcare settings [13]. Cromer et al. estimated the direct effects of various pediatric and maternal immunization candidate products and strategies using a cohort model in England. While Cromer et al.'s model more closely matches trial endpoints for products potentially close to licensure, its assumptions may not be generalizable to populations that have different rates of disease and seasonality. It also assumed the entire population eligible for an immunization product received it (i.e., 100% uptake), which likely overestimates the public response. The evolving state of product development highlights the need for flexible and accessible modeling tools, which can be readily updated to reflect advancements in our knowledge of product characteristics, and which can be applied to jurisdictions with varied RSV epidemiology.

We therefore developed a modeling tool, called the RSV Immunization Impact Model (RSV I²M), for use by practicing public health officials and policy-makers in their jurisdictions, to estimate the direct effects of immunization candidates targeting young infants, on MA-RSV-associated LRTIs. RSV I²M evaluates the potential impact of these products on outpatient clinic visits, ED visits, and hospitalizations based on user-adjustable RSVi rates and seasonality, in conjunction with assumptions about product uptake and efficacy. Model outputs (visits with and without immunization for LRTI due to RSV) can assist policy-makers in the United States and other countries with developing economic analyses and recommendations for RSV immunization. We also apply the model to a US birth cohort to estimate the potential impact of these products on MA-LRTI due to RSV in the United States.

14

METHODS

Tool Overview

RSV I²M is a spreadsheet-based tool that uses a Decision Tree model (Appendix 1) to estimate the potential impact of three immunization strategies on MA-RSV-associated LRTIs among an annual birth cohort through 12 months of age. The birth cohort is divided into "high-risk" and "low-risk" (all other) infants. High-risk infants include those with hemodynamically significant congenital heart disease (CHD), chronic lung disease of prematurity (CLDP), and infants born prematurely at <29 weeks gestational age based on recommendations for who should receive palivizumab prophylaxis [30]. The first strategy (Strategy I) generally follows current US-based recommendations that high-risk infants receive monthly injections of palivizumab during the RSV season (typically October to March) during their first year of life [30]. In the model, palivizumab is given starting at birth for those born during the season, and starting at the beginning of the next RSV season when births occur out-of-season (OoS) (Table 1). The second strategy (Strategy II) provides a new antibody product, hereafter referred to as the "Antibody Candidate" strategy, injected as a single dose with the same timing of palivizumab initiation, but targeting all infants rather than just those at high risk. The third strategy (Strategy III), the "Maternal Vaccine Candidate + Palivizumab" strategy, combines providing vaccine to mothers in their third trimester throughout the year (not just during the season) and palivizumab to highrisk births based on the palivizumab schedule described above.

	Strategy I	Strategy II	Strategy III		
Immunization Products	Palivizumab (licensed)	Antibody Candidate	Maternal Vaccine Candidate	Palivizumab (licensed)	
Eligibility	High-risk infants*	All infants	All pregnant women [¶]	High-risk infants*	
When offered	Within-RSV season	Within-RSV season	Year-round	Within-RSV season	
Administration Schedule	Monthly injections for 5 months	Single injection	Single injection	Monthly injections for 5 months	
Age when immunization	Within-season birth: at birth	Within-season birth: at birth	3 rd trimester of mother's	Within-season birth: at birth	
initiated	Out-of-season birth: age at season's start (1-6 months)	Out-of-season birth: age at season's start (1-6 months)	pregnancy	Out-of-season birth: age at season's start (1-6 months)	

Table 1. RSV Immunization Strategies

* High risk conditions include hemodynamically significant congenital heart disease (CHD), chronic lung disease of prematurity (CLD), and prematurity (<29 weeks gestation) without CHD or CLD

 ${}^{\P}\textsc{Risk}$ status of infant is not known at time of immunization

Estimates of MA-RSVi visits without any immunization are based upon user inputs regarding the size of their birth cohort, prevalence and risk of RSV hospitalizations among those with high-risk conditions, rates of RSV (combined for high- and low-risk infants) by month of age in the outpatient clinic, ED, and hospital settings, the proportion of MA-RSVi visits resulting in a LRTI diagnosis, and RSV seasonality (Table 2). To estimate the effects of immunization, users input immunization uptake, efficacy, and duration of protection for each product (Table 2). Uptake was defined as the proportion of the population expected to receive the products. Efficacy is defined as the percent protected assuming recipients receive the full immunization dose at the correct time. For the maternal vaccine, efficacy is reduced by assumptions about the proportion of antibodies that successfully transfer to the infant (based on the timing of the mother's vaccination and the infant's gestational age a birth; Table A2, Appendix 1). Users can download the model via the link in Appendix 1 and can readily update several input values as new data

become available and/or to reflect a jurisdiction's desired immunization policy considerations. To illustrate the tool, we used it to estimate the effects of the aforementioned immunization strategies on a US birth cohort.

	Baseline	Range (used in sensitivity	User-	
Parameter	Value	analyses)	adjustable	Source
Population and Epidemiological				
Annual live births	3,945,975		Yes	[31]
Births with conditions putting them at "high-RSV risk" §	0.98%		Yes	[32]
Percent of "high-risk" hospitalized before 12 months	9.31%		Yes	Calculated, Appendix 1 (A1)
Rates of Medically-Attended RSV (per 1000 births) [¶]			Yes	
Hospitalizations	8.4	(1.5 - 30.8)		See A1 for data
Emergency Department (ED) Visits	66.2	(16.8 – 132.7)		tables/sources
Outpatient Clinic Visits	230.9	(71.0 – 337.2)		
Proportion of MA-RSVi visits with an LRTI diagnosis,			Ves	CDC/unpublished
by 0-5 / 5-11 months of age categories^			105	eDerunpuonsneu
Hospitalizations	1.00 / 1.00			
ED Visits:	0.65 / 0.50			
Outpatient Clinic Visits	0.65 / 0.30			543
Case fatality ratios			Yes	[1]
0-5 months (%)	0.10			
5-11 months (%)	0.10		V	CDC/secolt12shed
KS v season	October to		res	CDC/unpublished;
Immunization	March			AI
Intoke [#]				
Palivizumah	38.0%		Ves	[33 34]
Antibody Candidate	50.070		103	[55, 54]
Low-risk	71%	(66 - 76)	Yes	Assumed. [35, 36]**
High-risk	80%	(00 00)	Yes	Assumed, [32] ^{¶¶}
Maternal Vaccine Candidate	56%	(51 - 61)	Yes	Assumed $[37]$
Antibodies proportion successfully transferred to infants	91.9%	(0 0 0 0 0)	Yes	Calculated A1
Efficacy (associated with full immunization dosage)	110/10		105	Guiediated, III
Palivizumab	51%		Yes	[3 8] ^{§§}
Antibody Candidate	80%	(73 - 85)	Yes	Δ sumed [39] ^{^^}
Maternal Vaccine Candidate	80%	(73 - 85)	Ves	Assumed, $[30]^{\wedge}$
Duration of Protection	00 //	(75-85)	103	Assumed, [59]
Palivizumah	150 dave		No	[40 41]
Antibody Candidate	150 days	(120 - 180)	Yes	[10]
Maternal Vaccine Candidate	90 days	(60 - 120)	Yes	[11]

Table 2. Inputs and Parameter Values for All RSV Immunization Impact Scenarios.

[¶] Illustrative average (unadjusted) population rates. Appendix 1 (A1) contains the actual age-based (monthly) rates used in all analyses.

[§] High risk conditions include hemodynamically significant Congenital Heart Disease (CHD), Chronic Lung Disease of Prematurity (CLD), and Prematurity (<29 weeks gestation) without CHD or CLD.

^ Based on the average of number of lab-confirmed RSV visits from a national surveillance system between 2002-2009 with any of the following diagnoses: croup, bronchiolitis, bronchitis, pneumonia or asthma.

[†] Based on estimates for "high income/industrialized" countries.

[#] Percent of eligible population targeted to receive an immunization product that actually obtains and completes the full regimen. For Palivizumab: One injection monthly for 5 months on time. For Antibody & Maternal Vaccine Candidates: One injection.

** Baseline value is based on similar uptakes for Hepatitis B vaccine in neonates [36] (applicable to births within the RSV season) and Influenza immunization coverage among 6 month to 4 year olds [35] (applicable to births occurring outside RSV season). Range is -/+ 5 of baseline in the absence of data.

[¶]Based on the percent of births that obtained the 1st palivizumab injection [32].

** Baseline based on average TdaP (tetanus, diphtheria, pertussis) uptake among pregnant women during a 15-month study period from April 2013 - June 2014 [37]; and range is -/+ 5 of baseline. TdaP, like the maternal RSV vaccine, is given in the 3rd trimester of pregnancy.

§§This is the efficacy associated with our assumed uptake (i.e. compliance with all doses) [38].

^^Based on average efficacy for term infants across all healthcare settings (hospitalizations, ED, and outpatient clinics) in a study examining the efficacy of motavizumab and our assumption of similarity between it and this study's antibody and maternal vaccine candidates [39].

Calculations, Visits without immunization

To calculate the number of MA-RSVi resulting in LRTI for each of the three healthcare settings, we multiplied the "all-risk" (high- and low-risk) MA-RSVi rate by the proportion of visits in each setting with an LRTI diagnosis and the size of monthly birth cohorts (assuming births occur evenly across the year) (Appendix 1). These results were then distributed to calendar months based on RSV seasonality by multiplying them by the percent of annual visits occurring in each month. For countries that currently use palivizumab, like the United States, we added to the monthly visit counts MA-LRTIs that would have occurred in the absence of palivizumab. For the hospital setting, these additional visits were determined by multiplying the rate of hospitalizations among high-risk infants by the size of the high-risk cohort, palivizumab uptake, and palivizumab efficacy. The hospitalization rates used in this calculation are a weighted average across the different high-risk groups (Appendix 1). For the outpatient clinic and ED settings, we assumed the ratio of rates between high- and low-risk infants is the same as the ratio of hospitalization rates for high and low risk infants, and that palivizumab would have the same efficacy for preventing cases in these settings (Appendix 1).

Calculations, Visits prevented with immunization

To obtain the annual number of visits prevented with immunization for a given strategy and setting, we summed the visits prevented across all months that the immunization remained protective, based on its duration of protection. We calculated the monthly visits prevented with each immunization strategy differently. For Strategy I, LRTI visits prevented by palivizumab equaled the calculated number of MA-RSV-associated LRTIs without immunization among high-risk infants, multiplied by palivizumab uptake and efficacy. For Strategies II and III, visits

19

prevented by the immunization candidates equaled the number of MA-RSV-associated LRTIs without immunization among both high- and low-risk infants, multiplied by the candidate uptake in each risk group and efficacy. The efficacies for both candidates assume recipients receive the full immunization dose. To account for incomplete transfer of antibodies from mother to child for a portion of births, we multiplied the maternal vaccine efficacy in Strategy III by a reduction factor. This factor considers the delay in the mother's production of antibodies after vaccination (dependent on the timing of vaccination relative to birth) and the fact that the amount of antibody transfer is dependent on gestational age at birth (Appendix 1). In Strategy III, high-risk infants are also eligible to receive palivizumab; therefore, we added the number of visits prevented by palivizumab when calculating the total annual prevented visits for this strategy. Finally, we calculated the visits that would occur despite having each immunization strategy in place: this equaled visits without immunization minus visits prevented.

Calculations, Deaths with and without immunization

Since data are sparse on the number of RSV-associated deaths that occur outside the hospital setting, we estimated deaths with and without immunization based on deaths among hospitalized infants. We calculated deaths without immunization by multiplying user-provided hospitalized case fatality ratios (hCFR) for infants 0-5 months of age and for those between 6-11 months of age and the total annual estimate for hospitalizations due to RSV-associated LRTIs without immunization for these age groups. Deaths prevented by immunization were calculated similarly to medically-attended visits prevented, whereby deaths that occur without immunization were multiplied by the uptake and efficacy for each product. Finally, deaths that would occur despite

having each immunization strategy in place equaled deaths without immunization minus deaths prevented through immunization.

Model Inputs and Sensitivity Analysis

To illustrate the model, we estimated the impact of implementing the three immunization strategies in the United States. Table 2 includes all model inputs, values used and sources (with additional detail in Appendix 1).

We conducted two sensitivity analyses of immunization candidates' impacts. In the first, we evaluated the influence of high and low estimates for individual parameters, while all other parameters were held constant. For this analysis we used the 95% CI bounds for MA-RSVi rates, five percentage point reductions and improvements in the baseline uptake for the antibody candidate (66-76%) and maternal vaccine candidate (51-61%), the 95% CI bounds for efficacy reported in clinical trial results for an antibody candidate (73–85%, which we assumed for the maternal vaccine candidate as well), and one month reductions and improvements in durations of the antibody candidate (120-180 days), and maternal vaccine candidate (60-120 days) (Table 2). In our second sensitivity analysis, we examined the impact of uptake of the immunization candidates on LRTI visits by accounting simultaneously for uncertainty in RSV rates, uptake, efficacy, and duration. We present the results for this analysis as the lowest and highest possible prevented visits associated with a percentage point decrease or increase in uptake, respectively. We generated the lowest estimate by combining the 2.5 percentile values for MA-RSVi rates, lowest efficacy and uptake, and shortest duration, for each product as inputs (Table 2). High estimates were achieved by combining the 97.5 percentile values for MA-RSVi rates, highest efficacy and uptake, and longest duration, for each product.

RESULTS

3.1. Visits without immunization

We estimate, in the absence of palivizumab use, RSV-associated LRTIs in the US among infants up to 12 months of age, would result in 407,360 annual outpatient clinic visits (range, based on RSV rates uncertainty: 339,650 – 475,980); 147,240 annual ED visits (range: 126,070 – 168,510), and annual 33,180 hospitalizations (range: 24,760 – 42,900).

3.2. Visits prevented with immunization

In our illustrative scenario, Strategy II (the "Antibody Candidate") prevented the most annual LRTIs. (Figure 1) This strategy prevents an estimated 196,470 (48% of visits without immunization) RSV-associated LRTIs attended in the outpatient clinic setting (range: 163,810–229,650), 75,250 (51%) LRTIs attended in the ED (range: 64,430 -86,090), and 18,140 (55%) LRTI hospitalizations (range: 13,770–23,160). Strategy III (the "Maternal Vaccine Candidate + Palivizumab"), prevented an estimated 58,210 (14% of visits without immunization) RSV-associated LRTIs attended in the outpatient clinic setting (range: 48,520–67,970), 19,580 (13%) LRTIs attended in the ED (range: 16,760 – 22,400), and 8,190 (25%) LRTI hospitalizations (range: 6,390 – 10,150). We estimate that Strategy I, ("Current US Recommendations"), prevents 8,460 (2% of visits without immunization) RSV-associated LRTIs attended in the outpatient clinic setting (range: 4,460 (2% of visits without immunization) RSV-associated LRTIs attended in the 27,050 – 9,880), 3,240 (2%) LRTIs attended in the ED (range: 2,770 - 3,710), and 780 (2%) LRTI hospitalizations (range: 760 – 800).

Figure 1. Estimated number of RSV-associated LRTI Visits Expected without Immunization and Prevented by Immunization in the US, by Healthcare Setting and Immunization Strategy



Notes: Error bars reflect uncertainty in the number of prevented MA-LRTIs associated with uncertainty in RSV rates. Uncertainty in the expected visits despite immunization is not shown.

3.3. Deaths with and without immunization

We estimated 33 deaths (range: 25-43) would occur annually among hospitalized infants in the US from RSV-associated LRTIs in the absence of immunization and following current recommendations for palivizumab use (Strategy I) prevents just one death. Eighteen in-hospital deaths (range: 14-23) would be prevented if immunization were implemented according to Strategy II, and eight in-hospital deaths (range: 6-10) prevented with Strategy III.

3.4. Sensitivity Analyses

The relative influence of individual parameters on our estimates of prevented LRTI-associated visits varied by immunization strategy and healthcare setting. In both Strategies II and III, uncertainty in the duration of immunization protection was the most influential parameter, except for the hospital setting, where uncertainty in RSV rates was more influential in Strategy II

(Figure 2). When results assuming 120 and 180 days of protection by the antibody candidate are compared, the estimated LRTI visits prevented differed by 3,080 in the hospital setting, 26,960 in the ED setting, and 79,070 in the outpatient clinic setting. When results assuming 60 and 120 days of protection by the maternal vaccine candidate are compared, the estimated LRTI visits prevented differed by 3,880 in the hospital setting, 20,950 in the ED setting, and 51,840 in the outpatient clinic setting. The more pronounced effects of immunization duration in Strategy III results from RSV rates peaking for the outpatient and ED setting at ages just after our baseline 90-day duration (Appendix 1, Table 1). Antibody candidate uptake exhibited the least influence on prevented LRTIs in Strategy III. In contrast, efficacy was the least influential parameter in Strategy III.



Figure 2. Sensitivity of Estimates of RSV-associated LRTI Visits Prevented to Select Model Parameters.

Notes: Top row: Immunization Strategy II (the "Antibody Candidate" Strategy). Bottom row: Immunization Strategy III (the "Maternal Vaccine Candidate + Palivizumab" Strategy). Parameter values not shown, provided in Table 2.

The results of our multivariable sensitivity analysis suggest changes in the antibody candidate uptake have a larger impact in preventing RSV-associated LRTI visits than would uptake changes in the maternal vaccine candidate. For every percentage point increase in uptake of the antibody candidate, we estimate 1,435 to 3,527 outpatient visits would be prevented, compared with 273 to 1,611 for the same increase in the maternal vaccine candidate. In the ED setting, a one percentage point increase in antibody candidate uptake is associated with 548 to 1,248 LRTI visits prevented, while the same uptake increase in maternal vaccine candidate would prevent between 82 and 588 LRTIs. In the hospital setting, a one percentage point increase in antibody candidate uptake is associated with 128 to 329 prevented LRTIs, and 58 to 215 prevented LRTIs for the maternal vaccine candidate.

DISCUSSION

Using the model and our best estimates of the parameters, we found that in the absence of an immunization, there are ~590,000 MA-RSV LRTIs among US infants and that new interventions that target all infants may prevent between ~86,000 to ~290,000 of those visits. These results indicate substantial RSV morbidity and associated healthcare utilization due to serious RSVi may be averted with new products under development. Few deaths (8-18), however, are averted, since few deaths in the US are attributed to RSVi. Of the candidates evaluated, administering an antibody candidate to all infants born during the season and at the season's start for those born outside the season, prevents the most MA-LRTIs. With this strategy, we estimate nearly 200,000 outpatient clinic visits, 75,000 ED visits, and 18,000 hospitalizations for LRTIs could be prevented annually; approximately 48-55% (across settings) of visits estimated to occur without

immunization. Our baseline estimates suggest this strategy may avert approximately 3.5 times the number visits for RSV-associated LRTIs to outpatient clinics and EDs, and two times the hospitalizations than a strategy in which a maternal vaccine candidate is offered to mothers yearround (in addition to palivizumab use per current US recommendations).

In our illustrative scenario, the difference in the number of prevented visits associated with candidates was largely attributable to the maternal candidate's duration of protection being less than the antibody candidates' duration of protection. This was especially pronounced in the outpatient clinic and ED settings, where the peak of incidence is beyond the 90 days of protection assumed for the maternal candidate. Consequently, changes to our duration assumptions for the maternal vaccine candidate had the greatest influence on product impact. Despite its lower impact, the maternal vaccine candidate has the potential to reduce MA-RSV LRTIs across all three settings by ~74,000 visits a year (beyond the ~12,500 visits prevented by palivizumab in our baseline scenario). Preliminary results suggest the efficacy of a maternal vaccine may be half what we assumed in our baseline estimates [20]. This would reduce visits prevented by the maternal vaccine candidate by about half, but not change the overall conclusion about the relative merits of the products and strategies evaluated.

Although uncertainty in factors over which public health practitioners have some influence, like uptake, had less impact on results, they were not trivial. For example, our multivariable sensitivity analysis suggests a 10% increase in uptake of the antibody candidate is associated with preventing an additional 14,350 to 35,270 outpatient clinic visits, 5,480 to 12,480 ED visits, and 1,280 to 3,290 hospitalizations for LRTIs. Similarly, a 10% increase in maternal vaccine candidate uptake is associated with preventing 2,730 to 16,110 outpatient clinic visits, 820 to 5,880 ED visits, and 580 to 2,150 hospitalizations for LRTIs. We also examined the influence of

27

the timing of maternal vaccine uptake, by altering the immunization schedule so that it optimized the proportion of infants to whom antibodies successfully transfer (Appendix 1, Figure A2). The difference between these results and our baseline results were negligible.

The relative impact of strategies on hospitalizations are similar to Cromer et al.'s findings (ED and outpatients are not comparable) [13]. If we assume 100% uptake for both candidate products and limit our evaluation to infants <6 months of age (to match Cromer et al.'s analysis) we find the antibody candidate prevents 1.7 times more hospitalizations than the maternal vaccine candidate, compared with a ratio of 1.8 in Cromer et al. Our findings are also in line with previous studies examining the effect of a single type of vaccine with similar characteristics to products we examined. For example, Regnier, using a decision tree model to examine a theoretical vaccine for protecting infants in the US from birth, also estimated a 25% reduction in hospitalizations, but with assumptions of 69% uptake, 50% efficacy, and a decaying exponential distribution for the duration of protection with a 12-month median length [17]. And Hogan et al., employing a compartmental transmission model to examine maternal vaccine impacts in Western Australia, similarly estimated a 25% reduction in hospitalizations when assuming a similar immunization scenario of 50% uptake, 80% efficacy, and 3 months duration of protection [14]. A strength of our study is its simplicity. We focus on the impacts of products on infants who are immunized, which will be of specific interest to policymakers developing RSV immunization guidelines. We do not estimate the indirect effects of immunization in infants (i.e., secondary infections prevented). However, this should not be seen as a limitation. Even Hogan et al. concluded from their transmission model that herd effects due to the maternal vaccine were modest and a simple cohort model would be a reliable alternative for estimating immunization impacts among infants [14]. Additional strengths of our study include evaluation of multiple

candidate products, the separate consideration of infants with higher risk of healthcare use for RSV infection and the additional evaluation of the outpatient and emergency department settings.

RSV I²M has limitations. Estimates of immunization impact are restricted to the season in which they are given. It is possible that these products will shift the demand for care to subsequent seasons, although there is evidence that primary infection with RSV beyond 12 months of age is less likely to result in an LRTI [21]. We also do not account for the possible protection of mothers against RSVi by the maternal vaccine candidate. As such, and because we do not account for herd effects, we may underestimate the actual benefit of immunizing mothers. Other limitations, however, may result in our overestimation of immunization benefits. For example, our assumption that effective immunization averts healthcare use does not account for the potential that some portion of immunized infants may still become infected with RSV, but require a lower level of care (e.g., shift from hospitalization to outpatient visit). We also assumed an additive effect of palivizumab on top of visits prevented by the maternal vaccine candidate in Strategy III, on the basis that the population of "high-risk" births may derive partial protection from the maternal vaccine and from palivizumab. Any overestimation from this limitation, however, is negligible (in the US at least), since <1% of births are affected. For jurisdictions that do not use palivizumab or who wish to see the potential impact of the maternal vaccine alone, users can set palivizumab uptake to 0%. It is worth noting that similar flexibility exists for analyzing impacts by setting: jurisdictions wishing to evaluate only the hospital setting can just input rates for this setting.

Our model provides decision makers with the ability to examine the impact of directly or indirectly immunizing infants against RSV infection with anticipated immunization products. As

29

such, local and national public health agencies may use it to evaluate jurisdiction-specific scenarios of impact. The findings can be used in economic analyses to understand the direct costs and benefits of these strategies and others. The results of our illustrative scenario underscore potential for these products to reduce serious RSV illness and the benefits of each. Although we found limited impact of these products on deaths averted in the United States, they may have greater impact in places where RSV-associated deaths are more common. As more data become available regarding immunization candidates (i.e., study results regarding efficacy and length of protection) and the burden of RSV infections, our tool permits rapid updating of results.

CHAPTER 3 – Study 2: A Dynamic Modeling Tool for Estimating Healthcare Demand in the Early Phase of the COVID-19 Pandemic and Evaluating Population-wide Interventions

On December 31, 2019, the regional office of the World Health Organization (WHO) was notified of a cluster of pneumonia cases of unknown origin associated with a market in Wuhan, China [26]. A novel coronavirus (SARS-COV-2) was identified as the cause of the infections [26] and has since spread worldwide. Just five months later, by May 7, 2020, more than 3.6 million cases of COVID-19 (illness caused by SARS-COV-2) had been reported in 184 countries and territories, including ~250,000 deaths [27, 28]. At that time, the pandemic had overwhelmed both national and local healthcare capacity in several countries [29, 30], and was projected to do so in many others. Low- and middle-income countries are particularly vulnerable [31], since financial and logistical challenges may hinder their ability to augment treatment capacity. As such, many countries resorted to societal-wide social distancing interventions in the hopes of reducing morbidity and delaying the demand for healthcare resources, to gain time to increase treatment capacity.

Numerous modeling efforts began forecasting the spread of the outbreak and examined the potential benefits of social-distancing interventions [29-32]. While informative, those efforts were limited to specific nations and snapshots in time and public health officials were reliant on the authors for updated estimates as the pandemic evolved. Other internet-based tools offered public health users the ability to generate estimates on their own, but these were limited in their practical utility because their assumptions and desired results did not necessarily match the specific needs of jurisdictions and public health decision makers, or they required coding knowledge to access or modify the calculations [33, 34]. These considerations are more critical

31

in low and middle-income countries, which may not have the resources to complete or modify such analyses on their own.

We sought to provide decision makers with the ability to examine the impacts of the early COVID-19 pandemic in their jurisdictions and evaluate the effects of various social-distancing mitigation strategies and augmenting treatment capacity on morbidity and mortality. Therefore, we developed a modeling tool for use by practicing public health officials to estimate the future impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on the demand for healthcare resources in their jurisdictions and for examining the costs and benefits of various intervention strategies. Once downloaded, the model can be used without an internet connection, to assist public health officials with choosing locally applicable intervention strategies and by how much to increasing hospital treatment capacity. For illustration, we apply the model to Chile, a Southern Hemisphere country where the virus was generating local transmission in the middle of 2020² and compare various interventions options in the three most affected regions of the country.

METHODS

Tool Overview

We created a spreadsheet-based tool that uses a Susceptible-Latent-Infectious-Recovered (SEIR) Compartmental Model to project the future impact of a COVID-19 epidemic among any population of interest (Appendix 2). The model requires information that is typically available for public health officials, including the number of cases in their jurisdiction, the size and demographics of their at-risk population, healthcare capacity, expectations for healthcare use, and choices of societal-wide social-distancing mitigation strategies users wish to evaluate. Model

² at the time of initiation of this study

outputs reflect the potential demand on the healthcare system due to severely ill individuals with and without user-specified mitigation strategies, as well as deaths averted through treatment and excess deaths due to healthcare demand exceeding capacity. The demand for healthcare resources is measured as the estimated number of COVID-19 patients requiring critical-care or Intensive Care Unit (ICU) beds, hospital beds (non-ICU), and mechanical ventilators over the course of the outbreak and the maximum occupancy at the outbreak's peak. The tool offers users the ability to evaluate various intervention strategies currently under consideration and in use worldwide [29, 30, 35]. These interventions comprise five mitigation-type interventions which focus on slowing epidemic spread and reducing its burden on the healthcare system, and one suppression-type strategy, which employs aggressive interventions aimed at reversing epidemic growth (Table 3). Users can download the model (link in Appendix 2) and readily update all input values themselves as new data become available or reflect a jurisdiction's specific epidemiologic profile of disease and policy considerations. All calculations can be readily modified by users (although no modifications are necessary for tool use).

Strategy Name			Reduction in Ro ^a	
(Strategy Type)	Description	Low ^b	High ^b	
Case isolation (mitigation)	Symptomatic cases stay at home for 7 days, reducing non- household contacts during this period. Household contacts remain unchanged.	15.8%	18.6%	
Closing Schools and Universities + Telework (mitigation)	sing Schools and versities + igation)Closing Schools/Universities: Physical closure of all schools and universities (or move to virtual learning environment). Assumes some increase in contacts in the household and the community during the closure, partially offsetting reductions in transmission at schools and universities.		16.8%	
	<u>Telework</u> : All government switches to telework to the maximum extent possible and private businesses are encouraged to telework, resulting in 50% of the working population teleworking.			
Case isolation +	Case isolation: same as above	25.4%	30.0%	
Household quarantine (mitigation)	<u>Household quarantine</u> : Following identification of a symptomatic case in the household, all household members voluntarily remain at home for 14 days. Increased transmission between household members during the quarantine period will partially offset transmission reductions in the community.			
Case isolation +	Case isolation: same as above	41.9%	47.7%	
Household quarantine + Social	Household quarantine: same as above			
distancing of >70s + Telework (mitigation)	Social Distancing of >70s: Reduce contacts among older individuals (>70 years of age) because of their increased risk for severe outcomes and healthcare resource requirements. These individuals reduce contacts outside the home by 50%.			
	<u>Telework</u> : same as above			
Lockdown (suppression)	Population-wide social distancing by forced quarantine of all households and workplaces, and border closed to travel. Only essential outings from the home are permitted (e.g. food/supplies purchases) and for employees working at businesses deemed essential for continued operation.	57.7%	68.2%	

Table 3. COVID-19 Social-Distancing Intervention Strategies and Effects on Transmission

Notes

^a $R_0 = basic reproduction number$. It represents the average number of people who will be infected by any given infected person at the early stages of disease spread when there are no control measures.

^b High and Low values of the reduction in transmission associated with each strategy were used to account for uncertainty in societal compliance and strategy effectiveness. These reductions were based on equivalent reductions in Critical Care Bed Occupancy published in Ferguson et al. (2020), [29, Appendix 2]. We added 10 percentage points to reduction values for strategies including telework, based on Willem et al. (2020) [35].

Calculations: Transmission with and without intervention

Our SEIR model tracks the number of individuals transitioning between disease states every day of the outbreak. The initial number of susceptible individuals is set as the population minus the cumulative number infected since the outbreak's start. Transmission occurs through contacts between susceptible and infectious individuals, and we assume an equal probability any one person has contact with another ("homogenous mixing"). We also assume transmission chains generated by infected travelers entering the population are minimal compared to existing transmission in the community. As a result, the number of new infections each day is the product of the proportion of the population that is susceptible, the number of infectious persons on a given day, and the average number of new infections each infected person causes over the span of their illness (the reproduction number; hereafter, "R") divided by the duration (in days) of the average infectious period. Infectiousness is assumed to occur five days after infection [36] and lasts 11 days [37]. Upon recovery from infection, individuals are assumed immune to reinfection during the timespan modeled (through December 2020). In the absence of intervention R is 2.0 (low estimate) and 2.8 (high estimate), approximately spanning the middle 50% of the gamma distribution of R (95% intervals: 1.4-3.8) estimated from the early growth-rate of the epidemic in Wuhan [38, 39]. To account for uncertainty in R, all results are depicted as a range based on these low and high estimates for R. During time periods where interventions are applied, we reduce the low and high estimates of R by the values in Table 3. Upon mitigation concluding, R returns to pre-mitigation levels to illustrate the potential consequences of shorter duration interventions. However, advanced users can alter the tool so that when one mitigation strategy concludes, another begins. Finally, we do not account for any vaccine as it was unlikely
to be available within the modeled time frame [40]. All equations governing dynamics of the system are provided in Appendix 2.

Calculations: Hospitalizations and ICU admissions with and without intervention

In our model, all symptomatic persons with an illness severe enough to warrant hospitalization will seek healthcare and the risk for hospitalization is age-dependent (Table 4) [41]. Similarly, the percentages of individuals admitted to the hospital requiring ICU care and fatality are also age-dependent (Table 4), while the likelihood of patients admitted to the ICU who require mechanical ventilation is assumed the same (63.2%) for all ages [42].

Based on observations for COVID19, we assume individuals seeking hospital care do so 11 days after infection (five days incubation + six days of symptoms) [38, 43-45]. We calculate hospital (non-ICU) bed occupancy based on a ten-day length of stay for patients treated entirely in noncritical hospital wards [46, 47] and ICU bed occupancy based on a ten day length of stay when critical care is required [41, 45]. We assume a four-day lag from hospital admission to ICU admission [45, 47]. When mechanical ventilation is required, we assume the duration of use is nine days, based on expert clinical opinion that ventilation is necessary for the duration of ICU stays other than two days (one-day lag post ICU admission to initiate ventilator use plus 1 day in the ICU post-use) and another day required for ventilator cleaning/re-equipping.

Age group	% Infected, Hospitalized ^[41]	% of Hospitalized, Admitted to ICU ^[41]	% ICU patients needing ventilation ^a	Infection Fatality Ratio (IFR) ^[41]	Fatality Increase if Demand>Capacity ^b
0-9	0.01%	5.0%	63.2%	0.002%	1.000%
10-19	0.04%	5.0%	63.2%	0.006%	1.000%
20-29	1.10%	5.0%	63.2%	0.030%	1.000%
30-39	3.40%	5.0%	63.2%	0.080%	1.000%
40-49	4.30%	6.3%	63.2%	0.150%	1.000%
50-59	8.20%	12.2%	63.2%	0.600%	1.000%
60-69	11.80%	27.4%	63.2%	2.200%	1.000%
70-79	16.60%	43.2%	63.2%	5.100%	1.000%
80+	18.40%	70.9%	63.2%	9.300%	1.000%

 Table 4. Risk of Healthcare Use and Outcomes Among COVID19-Infected Individuals

^a Based on ICNARC (2020)[42]. Alternative estimates include 60% (Meltzer et al., 2015)[48] and 71.1% (Yang et al., 2020)[49].

^b Percentage points increase in fatality when hospitals are overwhelmed. We assumed a 1% increase in the IFR to approximately double the population-weighted age-based IFR in Chile, based on data from COVID19 in China (Zhang Zuqin et al., 2020)[50].

To estimate the impact of interventions on hospital resource requirements we calculate two measures for each of the three resources tracked in the model: 1) the reduction in peak occupancy between the projected outbreak without intervention and when interventions are employed, and 2) the number of weeks peak occupancy is delayed due to employed interventions.

Calculations, Deaths with and without intervention

We assume all deaths occur in the hospital unless treatment capacity is overwhelmed, and that it takes the same time for an individual to recover and die, despite some preliminary evidence that deaths occur faster [44, 46]. As such, we might be overestimating the healthcare resources needed to treat the most critical patients (namely ventilators). Given the limited evidence for outcome-based durations of resource use, we took a more conservative approach, assuming planners would prefer to overestimate resources needs than under-prepare.

With treatment, fatality among infected (IFR) is age-dependent [41] (Table 4). When hospital capacity is overwhelmed, we assume a 1% increase in the IFR, chosen to approximately double the IFR in Chile, based on the observed reduction in IFR in China after treatment capacity was augmented to meet demand [50]. We also chose to base our mortality increase for untreated CoVID-19 patients on hospital bed availability (versus critical care beds or ventilators) since the vast majority of cases do not require critical care (~90% of cases in Chile). When more data become available, these assumptions can be updated. Finally, we assume when beds become free at overwhelmed hospitals, new admissions are not associated with a patient's potential outcome. To estimate the impact of interventions on deaths we calculate infection fatality rates with and without interventions and the number of estimated deaths averted, as the difference in our estimates of cumulative deaths with and without interventions.

Illustrative Scenarios and Sensitivity Analyses

To illustrate the model, we estimated the impact of implementing three intervention strategies in three regions of Chile with the most detected cases through April 6, 2020: Región Metropolitana (RM), an urban region with the largest population including the country's capital Santiago, and Araucanía and Ñuble, two of the least dense urban regions in Chile, but which had experienced rapid growth in late March and were reporting treatment capacity was already strained. We implemented the following three intervention strategies (Table 5) in each region, beginning April 1: Strategy 1) Closure of schools and universities and Telework for 8 months; Strategy 2) Case isolation, home quarantine, social distancing of individuals >70 years, and Telework for 8 months; and Strategy 3) Lockdown for 2 months (6 months shorter duration than the other strategies because the social and economic costs of this suppression strategy are not considered

sustainable for the long-term). We chose these strategies because they were in use to some degree in all three regions [51-53] (Appendix 2).

Table 5. COVID19 Healthcare Demand Model Inputs, by Region for all Illustrative Scenarios

		Region		
	Metropolitana	Araucanía	Ñuble	Source
Population ^a	7,112,808	957,224	480,609	[53]
COVID-19 reported cases ^b				
Cumulative	20,590	1,907	1,107	[51]
2 weeks through 05/04/20	12,487	364	133	[51]
R ₀	2.0 - 2.8	2.0 - 2.8	2.0 - 2.8	[39]
Intervention Strategy				
School closures, telework	4/1-12/1/20	4/1-12/1/20	4/1-12/1/20	Assumed
Case isolation, home quarantine, social distancing>70, telework	4/1-12/1/20	4/1-12/1/20	4/1-12/1/20	Assumed
Lockdown	4/1-6/1/20	4/1-6/1/20	4/1-6/1/20	Assumed
Disease severity				
Infected who are hospitalized ^c (%)	4.5%	4.8%	5.1%	[41]
Hospitalized, admitted to ICU ^c (%)	11.4%	12.2%	12.7%	[41]
Infection Fatality rate ^c (%)	0.8%	0.9%	0.9%	[41]
ICU patients needing ventilator (%)	63.2%	63.2%	63.2%	[42]
Healthcare resources ^d				
Hospital (non-ICU) beds	18,522	2,671	1,010	[55]
In-use by Non-COVID Patients (%)	71%	71%	71%	[56]
In-use by COVID Patients (%) ^e	3%	3%	3%	[51]
Critical Care Beds	2,326	215	60	[55]
In-use by Non-COVID Patients (%)	71%	71%	71%	[56]
In-use by COVID Patients (%) ^e	14%	14%	14%	[51]
Ventilators	867	80	22	[55]
In-use by Non-COVID Patients $(\%)^{f}$	40%	40%	40%	[57]
In-use by COVID Patients (%) ^g	19%	19%	19%	Assumed

^a Population distributed by age groups are shown in the Appendix 2, based on Instituto Nacional de Estadísticas's Housing and Population Census, 2017 [53].

^b Scaled counts to account for assumed 40% under-reporting in reported cases (based on 60% reported by Wang et al. (2020)[47] minus 20% to account for improvements in case-detection in Chile since the outbreak's start).
 ^c Estimates differ by region due to age structure of the populations (Appendix 2).

^d All beds available in the healthcare system, from public and private hospitals, are now part of the "Sistema Integrado COVID-19" under the centralized administration of the Ministry of Health. An ICU bed consists of a cot with a monitor, healthcare professionals and medication to treat patient. Some have a mechanical ventilator. There are an estimated 1,847 mechanical ventilators; 850 currently available and 997 were acquired in January 2020 [55]. We assumed the distribution of mechanical ventilators was proportional to the number of critical beds in each region: Metropolitana,47.0%; Araucanía, 4.3%; Ñuble, 1.2%. (Appendix 2)

^e Based on the reported number hospitalized in "basic beds" (1,216) and in "critical care beds" (699) in all of Chile by the Ministry of Health as of May 4, 2020, out of the total existing beds nationally in March 2020 plus anticipated beds being added to expand pandemic treatment capacity: 41,706 and 4,954, respectively [55].

^f Availability of mechanical ventilators was based on a three-year study of 97 ICUs in the US [57].

^g Calculated by applying the % ICU patients needing ventilation (Table 4) to the number of COVID patients in critical care beds (see note e) and dividing the result by the total ventilators in Chile (see note f).

We conducted two sensitivity analyses to evaluate the effectiveness of varying the implementation of mitigation strategies. First, we evaluated the influence of shortening the duration (by 2, 4, and 6 months) of mitigation strategies by which successfully reduced our healthcare demand estimates to within the range of treatment capacity. This analysis was chosen since policymakers may be pressured to lift mitigation strategies as early as possible due to their social disruption and economic costs. Then we evaluated the impact of combining the Lockdown strategy with all other strategies, so that when the Lockdown strategy ends, another begins and lasts 6 months. This analysis is intended to address the potential for the outbreak to rebound in the absence of an intervention after a lockdown is lifted [29, 30].

RESULTS

3.1. Infections and Deaths without intervention

We estimate in the absence of any interventions, 5,682,168 to 6,592,016 infections would occur over the course of the epidemic period modeled (5/5 – 12/31/20) in RM, 766,015 to 889,054 infections in Araucanía, and 384,509 to 446,285 infections in Ñuble (Figure 3 and Appendix 2). These projected counts reflect the possibility that 80% to 93% of the populations in these regions may be infected in the absence of any control measures or changes in individual behaviors. Under such a scenario, the number of deaths is projected to be between 106,558 to 125,373 in RM (1.9% IFR), 13,860 to 16,378 deaths in Araucanía (1.8% IFR), and 7,247 to 8,520 deaths in Ñuble (1.9% IFR).

3.2. Hospital Resource Demands with and without interventions

Without intervening to control the outbreak, demands for all three of the healthcare resources evaluated by our model are projected to exceed capacity sometime in June in RM (Figure 3 and Appendix 2), and peak sometime between the end of July and mid-August. Araucanía and Ñuble are projected to exceed capacity in July and peak sometime in August or September (approximately one month after RM on both metrics). The degree to which demand is projected to exceed supplies differs by region. In RM, peak demand across all resources is 6 to 18 times the projected maximum supplies available. The situation is similar in Araucanía and Ñuble for hospital beds and ventilators but is more dire for ICU beds: in both regions the unmitigated peak ICU bed demand is between 13 and 47 times the supply.

Among the two mitigation strategies we evaluated (versus the suppression-type Lockdown strategy), Strategy 2 reduced the burden on the healthcare system the most. In RM, compared to the no intervention scenario, this strategy reduced peak hospital bed occupancy demands by a range of 16,024 to 57,225 (35.4-69.2%), ICU bed occupancy between 2,945 to 8,270 beds (44.8-69.0%), and the number of ventilators needed by 1,572 to 4,237 (47.1-69.3%). This strategy would also push the peak demand for healthcare resources back between 7 and 27 weeks, affording policymakers more time to plan or acquire more capacity. Greater percent reductions but similar delays in the peak demand were observed for Araucanía and Ñuble (Appendix 2). Our results suggest that this strategy can ease the demands for healthcare to levels below projected capacity constraints when the effectiveness of this strategy is at the higher end of our assumed range (i.e., reductions in R_0 approach 47.7%) (Table 1, Figure 3).

For policymakers willing to consider more restrictive measures, our results for the Lockdown strategy, suggest it is an incredibly effective strategy, even for its short duration. The pandemic is quickly subdued and remains so for the duration of the lockdown period in all three regions, with the numbers of cases in treatment remaining relatively flat at levels well below treatment capacity. However, once the lockdown is lifted the number of infected begins to rise again,

42

resulting in demand curves similar in size to the no-intervention scenario, but peaking later: sometime between mid- August and late September (Figure 5, panel A).

Figure 3. Projected occupancy demands and capacity for hospital (non-ICU) beds in Región Metropolitana with and without intervention.



Notes. Solid curves: projections using the high estimate for the reproduction number. Dashed curves: projections using the low estimate for the reproduction number. Table 3 contains all reproduction numbers. Horizontal Red line: Hospital bed capacity. Blue shaded region: interventions in place.

3.3. Deaths averted with intervention

Based on the projected capacity to treat COVID patients in each region, the number of deaths resulting from patients being unable to obtain healthcare was 53,515 to 63,836 in RM, 7,130 to 8,567 in Araucanía, and 3,657 to 4,354 in Ñuble. With Strategy 2, the estimated number of deaths averted in RM ranged from 39,006 to 79,233 (36.6-63.2%), between 4,885 and 12,622 in Araucanía (35.2-77.1%), and 2,018 to 6,742 in Ñuble (27.8-79.1%) (Table 4). Lockdown eliminates between 99.8% and 99.9% of expected deaths in all three regions during the lockdown period, but deaths rise afterwards with the subsequent rebound of transmission.

3.4. Sensitivity Analyses

Figure 4 depicts the effects of shortening the duration of intervention Strategy 2 on hospital bed occupancy demands in RM to two (A), four (B), six (C) months of implementation versus our initial eight month (D) duration. Similar to our baseline results for Strategy 3 (Lockdown), these results show that effectiveness of interventions depends upon the length of time they overlap the epidemic period. Specifically, if too many susceptible individuals remain (i.e., insufficient herd immunity) at the time interventions are lifted, transmission will return. Even when interventions are less effective (R is higher), if the intervention remains in place past peak demand, the resulting outbreak may be smaller than when the same strategy is more effective (R is lower) but lifted prior to peak demand (Figure 4, Panel C).

Figure 4. Sensitivity analysis: Effects of the Duration of COVID19 Intervention Strategy 2 (case isolation, home quarantine, social distancing of population >70 years of age, and telework) on Hospital Bed Occupancy Demands in Región Metropolitana.



Notes: Duration for two months (A), four months (B), six months (C), and eight months (D) (and initiated on April 1, 2020). Solid and dashed curves reflect uncertainty in the effectiveness of intervention strategies (Table 3).

Figure 5. Sensitivity Analysis: Effects of a 2-month Lockdown Suppression Strategy alone (A) and followed by various mitigation strategies (C-D) for 6 months on Hospital Bed Occupancy Demands by COVID19 Cases.



Notes: The various mitigation strategies following Lockdown Alone (A) include: Closing Schools and Universities + Telework (B), Case Isolation + Household Quarantine (C), and Case isolation, Household Quarantine, Social Distancing of >70 years of age, and Telework (D) Solid and dashed curves reflect uncertainty in the effectiveness of intervention strategies during both the Lockdown period and Post-lockdown intervention period per Table 3.

Figure 5 illustrates the results for combining a Lockdown suppression strategy with subsequent mitigation strategies in RM. The benefit of this approach are an additional one to two months delay in peak demand timing beyond delays afforded by each of the mitigation strategies on their own. This approach, however, has no effect on the amount of demand (i.e. peak demand is similar to the mitigation strategy without lockdown).

DISCUSSION

In the absence of immunization, our illustrative results suggest the number of severely ill patients could overwhelm treatment capacity as early as late May to mid-June in all three regions of Chile we evaluated. Our projections also suggest that with immediate aggressive action to implement several combinations of interventions the current amount of hospital beds and critical care beds may be sufficient. In specific circumstances, regional authorities may find it easier to augment their current capacity (e.g., ventilators in Nuble) along with some mitigation strategies to meet demand versus strictly burdening society with disruptive mitigations. Policymakers should be aware, however, that our results indicate that more effective intervention strategies at temporarily suppressing transmission can also result in larger epidemics upon lifting the strategy than less effective, longer-lasting strategies (in the absence of vaccine and changes in individual behavior). As such, it may be necessary to keep societal-wide interventions in place, or intermittently start and stop them again based on active monitoring of cases counts and treatment capacity, until a vaccine or treatment that can be administered outside of the hospital setting are available.

While our projections are reasonable estimates for how the pandemic may play out given our current understanding of SARS-CoV-2, they should not be considered as forecasts of what will

48

occur. This is due to the uncertainty in our understanding of an outbreak that is still unfolding, the application of experiences of other countries to Chile (such as case severity, resource use by non-COVID patients, intervention effectiveness, compliance over time), simplifying assumptions (such as homogenous mixing), and case surveillance uncertainty. We assumed homogenous mixing to make implementing our model in a spreadsheet more tractable, but as a result, do not reflect potential important variabilities in contact patterns stemming from population social and spatial structures or behavior differences that can affect population disease dynamics. Since obtaining accurate data regarding contact patterns during an ongoing outbreak is challenging and because these patterns may evolve with the outbreak, we chose to focus on producing the simplest useful model. To address case surveillance uncertainty, users can scale upwards or downwards their case count inputs occurring over the prior two weeks based on perceived underreporting or overreporting and examine the influence on outputs (as we did in our illustrative scenario). Similarly, all assumptions and sources are explicitly presented in the tool, and all can be readily modified by the user to reflect their interests and as new information comes to light. Therefore, users should consider the value of this tool as its ability to support the evaluation of relative differences in results associated with "what-if" scenarios. Our model has other limitations worth noting. Our estimates of beds and ventilators needed, and the number of deaths averted, also depends on associated resources not modeled here. Such resources include trained staff (respiratory therapists, nurses, and physicians) for the successful clinical management of hospitalized and ventilated patients and ancillary supplies associated with a bed or ventilator (e.g., electric circuits, oxygen). Furthermore, these resources may be impacted by the pandemic itself: staff absenteeism due to illnesses [58] and supply-chain disruptions in personal protective equipment (PPE) for healthcare personnel may further

49

exacerbate the situation. The effects of seasonality on the transmission dynamics of COVID19 remains unclear, but the transmission of similar respiratory illnesses (e.g., influenza, syncytial virus) peaks in the wintertime [59, 60]. If COVID19 exhibits similar seasonality, or patients with these other illnesses place additional demands on the healthcare system, there may be even fewer resources available to treat COVID19 patients at the epidemic's peak. Finally, we do not differentiate between specialized pediatric and non-pediatric resources. While this is justifiable because the current pandemic does not appear to pose a great enough risk to children to overwhelm pediatric healthcare capacity [39, 41, 61], users of the tool should take note of this meaningful difference when inputting resource amounts.

Our model provides decision makers with the ability to examine the impacts of the current COVID-19 pandemic in their jurisdictions and evaluate the effects of various social-distancing mitigation strategies and augmenting treatment capacity on morbidity and mortality. The results of our illustrative scenario underscore the need for policymakers to take immediate and aggressive actions, and if they do so, substantial morbidity and mortality may be averted. As more data become available (e.g., new treatments or healthcare capacity is augmented) and the pandemic evolves (e.g., COVID case counts), our tool permits rapid updating of results applicable for making decisions.

CHAPTER 4 – Study 3: Estimated COVID19 Cases and Hospitalizations Averted by Case Investigation and Contact Tracing in the US

INTRODUCTION

Reducing exposure to persons with communicable diseases through isolation and quarantine are basic tenets of transmission prevention. Public health programs regularly conduct case investigation and contact tracing (CICT) as a means of notifying persons infected with or exposed to communicable diseases and, often, of their need to isolate or quarantine. However, evidence of CICT's role in mitigating the COVID-19 pandemic thus far is lacking [62]. We recently showed, using data from 14 US jurisdictions (five states and nine local health districts), that CICT programs were effective at reducing SARS-CoV-2 transmission [63]. Despite these findings, the impact and consequent value of CICT remains controversial [64-66]. Some claim that the benefits are limited due to difficulty in scaling up services during COVID-19 case surges, or community reticence to participate in CICT, curtailing meaningful engagement between health departments and cases and their close contacts [64,67,68]. Between June 2020 and March 2021, the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) distributed more than \$40 billion to state, local, and territorial health departments to support COVID-19 response activities, with a notable portion directed toward CICT activities [66]. A national review of these efforts from November 2020 to March 2021, indicates that upwards of 42,000-55,000 case investigators and contact tracers (per month) interviewed 9.1 million cases and identified and sought to notify 10.7 million contacts [66]. Given the unprecedented funding and effort surrounding CICT and continuing debate surrounding its value it is important to quantify for public health decision makers the benefits associated with sustaining and/or improving CICT programs.

We sought to provide public health practitioners with a model that allows them to estimate on their own the health impacts of CICT programs in their jurisdictions. We also use this model to present an expanded profile of national CICT impacts in the US at its busiest point of the pandemic before vaccination was available: 60 days from November 25, 2020, to January 23, 2021. Our analysis combines primary CICT implementation data with mathematical modeling to estimate the number of cases and hospitalizations averted by COVID-19 CICT programs across US states and territories.

METHODS

We used CDC's COVIDTracer Advanced modeling tool [69] in combination with data from CICT programs to estimate cases and hospitalizations averted by CICT activities among states and territories funded by CDC's Epidemiology and Laboratory Capacity for Prevention and Control of Emerging Infectious Diseases (ELC) program. We focused on the 60-day period from November 25, 2020 to January 23, 2021.

Data

Sixty-four health departments receiving CICT funding report to CDC's ELC program monthly on the performance of their CICT programs [66]. We used reported metrics from each jurisdiction to derive its CICT effectiveness for the 60-day analysis period: the proportion of cases and contacts that entered isolation and quarantine because of CICT efforts, and the days required to do so (Appendix 3, *Case Investigation and Contact Tracing Effectiveness* section and Figure A2). Reported metrics used to calculated CICT effectiveness include the proportions of cases interviewed, contacts notified or monitored, and number of days from testing to case and contact notification. A summary of these data and assumptions used to calculate a range of CICT effectiveness values for each jurisdiction are detailed further below and in Appendix 3 (*Case Investigation and Contact Tracing Effectiveness* section and Table A4). We limited our analysis to those jurisdictions that reported all the required metrics and passed our data quality checks (*e.g.*, the number of contacts identified \geq number cases that provided at least one contact, the number of contacts identified \geq contacts notified; Figure A3 in Appendix 3).

Model Use

COVIDTracer Advanced is a deterministic Susceptible-Exposed-Infectious-Recovered (SEIR) epidemiological model that illustrates the spread of COVID-19 and impact of interventions in a user-defined population. The tool allows users to attribute reductions in transmission to either CICT or to a combination of vaccination and all other non-pharmaceutical interventions (other NPIs), such as facemask policies, large gathering restrictions, and school/business closures (Appendix 3, *COVIDTracer Advanced Model* section, Tables A1-A3, Figure A1). Estimates of reductions in transmission from CICT were obtained by first entering each jurisdiction's CICT effectiveness into COVIDTracer Advanced. After inputting the CICT effectiveness values for a jurisdiction, we estimated reductions in transmission due to other NPIs and any inceptive vaccination efforts. We accomplished this by "fitting" the curve of cumulative cases modeled by COVIDTracer Advanced to the jurisdiction's reported cases [70] by altering the percentage reduction in transmission ascribed to vaccine and other NPIs. The value that minimized the deviation (mean-squared error) between the fitted and reported case curves was our estimated effectiveness of vaccine and other NPIs. Then we "switched off" CICT (by setting CICT

effectiveness to zero) while maintaining the estimated effectiveness of vaccine and other NPIs. This simulated what would have happened if CICT had not occurred.

Outcome Measures

Estimates of CICT-averted cases were obtained by taking the difference between the modelsimulated curve without CICT and jurisdictions' actual cumulative cases. We also calculated averted hospitalizations by multiplying the estimated number of averted cases by age-stratified infection-to-hospitalization rates (Table A3 in Appendix 3). In addition to calculating the absolute number of cases and hospitalizations averted by CICT in each jurisdiction, we calculated two measures of CICT impact to allow comparison among jurisdictions: 1) averted cases and hospitalizations per 100,000 population, and 2) the proportion of cases or hospitalizations averted by CICT out of the remaining cases, after accounting for the impact of vaccination and other NPIs. This latter measure may be interpreted as the number of cases (or hospitalizations) averted by CICT among every 100 cases (or hospitalizations) that were not prevented by vaccination and other NPIs. Finally, we grouped jurisdictions by their US Census Region and compared the group medians of cases averted per 100,000 population to assess whether CICT impact differed among regions [71].

Range of estimates

Jurisdictions did not report the proportions of cases that effectively isolated and contacts that correctly quarantined. Absent compliance data, we generated a range of averted cases and hospitalizations to circumscribe the possible impact of CICT. High estimates were calculated by assuming all the cases a jurisdiction interviewed and all the contacts it actively monitored fully complied [63] with CDC-recommended isolation and quarantine guidelines (Table 6) [72]. In our

high estimate scenario, we also assumed that contacts who were notified but not actively monitored did not quarantine. That is, we assumed that the cases and contacts CICT programs engaged either fully complied or not at all in this scenario. To produce our low estimates, however, we altered the effect of CICT program's engagement by lowering the proportions of cases/contacts entering isolation or quarantine based on values derived from the literature (*Isolation/Quarantine Compliance* section in Appendix 3) [68,73,74. Specifically, we assumed 80% of cases that completed interviews, 80% of monitored contacts, and 30% of notified contacts (that were not actively monitored) fully complied with isolation and quarantine guidance (Table 6).

	Low impact Scenario (%)	High impact Scenario (%)	Sensitivity Analysis (%)
Confirmed Cases that completed interviews	80	100	100
Confirmed Cases that did not complete interviews ^{a,b}	0	0	0
Contacts that were notified and monitored	80	100	100
Contacts that were notified but not monitored	30	0	100
Contacts that were not notified by their health department ^b	0	0	0

Table 6. Assumed proportions of confirmed COVID19 cases and their contacts that effectively isolated or quarantined in each analysis scenario.

Notes: Each row is a mutually exclusive group of cases or contacts. The sum of each row (or column) does not add up to 100%, as the numbers represent the assumed compliance within each group. 0% compliance means none of the cases or contacts in a group isolated or quarantined effectively. 100% means all the cases or contacts in a group isolated or quarantined effectively.

^a Includes cases that weren't reached and those that were reached but who did not agree to be interviewed.

^b Compliance was set to zero for these case/contact group categories because any transmission reductions from quarantine and isolation are not attributable to direct interactions with health department's CICT staff, and, therefore outside of the scope of this analysis. Their inclusion here is to help distinguish between the various cases/contacts types.

In our model, and irrespective of the above scenarios, infected individuals may transmit to others until interactions with their health department prompt them to isolate or quarantine. Also, both estimates do not include unmeasured changes in behavior from sources of information other than phone calls/texts from CICT programs (*e.g.*, cases informing their own contacts), as measuring the influence of such factors are beyond our estimation goals.

We also conducted two sensitivity analyses. The first evaluated a scenario in which all interviewed cases and all contacts notified of their exposure fully complied with CDC-recommended quarantine guidelines. We chose this aspirational scenario to understand the potential impact of CICT assuming maximum community cooperation. Our second sensitivity analysis evaluated the effects of assuming a background amount of isolation and quarantining would have occurred without direct interactions with health departments. That is, instead of setting CICT effectiveness to zero to simulate an epidemic curve without CICT, we assumed 20% of interviewed cases would have isolated anyways, and 2.5% of notified contacts would have learned of their exposure via other means (*e.g.*, parents receiving notice of their child's exposure at school) and acted on this knowledge by effectively quarantining. It should be noted that these values represent a hypothetical counterfactual scenario as there is no data on what interviewed cases and notified contacts would have done in the absence of their interactions with their health departments.

RESULTS

Twenty-two US states and one territory met our data requirements for inclusion in the analysis (Figure A3 in Appendix 3). These 23 jurisdictions had a combined population of approximately 140 million persons, covering 42.5% of the entire US population and all 4 census regions [71].

56

Jurisdictions in our analysis reported metrics (% of cases interviewed and contacts notified, and contact notification speed) that were similar to those reported by all 64 federally funded CICT programs (Table A4 in Appendix 3).

We estimated that CICT averted 1.11 to 1.36 million cases and 27,231 to 33,527 hospitalizations from November 25, 2020, to January 23, 2021, across all 23 jurisdictions analyzed (Figure 6 and Figure A4 and Table A5 in Appendix 3). The lower estimates assume fractions of interviewed cases and contacts complied with isolation and quarantine guidelines, while the upper estimates assume all interviewed cases and monitored contacts did so (Table 6). The median number of estimated cases averted per 100,000 population ranged from 704 (low impact scenario) to 895 (high impact scenario). After accounting for the impact of vaccination and other NPIs, the median estimate of the percent of cases averted was 19.1% (range: 1.3 - 65.8%) in the low impact scenario and 23.5% (range: 1.6 - 58.7%) in the high impact scenario (Table A5 in Appendix 3).

On average, the number of estimated cases averted was greater among jurisdictions with larger populations, with more jurisdictions in the top half of Figure 6, Panel A having greater populations than those in the bottom half: the median population size of jurisdictions in the top half was 6.4 million (IQR: 4.8 - 9.2 million) and 3.2 million (IQR: 1.0 - 6.0 million) for the bottom half. However, per our estimates, CICT programs in jurisdictions with smaller populations often averted more cases on a per population basis (Figure 6, Panel B). Jurisdictions in the smallest population category (less than 1 million) averted the most cases per population (median: 1,714 - 1,875 per 100k population); more than twice the overall median (704 - 895 per 100k population).

We estimate that jurisdictions in the Midwest US averted the most cases on a per population basis because of CICT, averting between 1,444 cases per 100,000 population (in our low impact scenario) and 1,600 (in our high impact scenario) (Table 7). CICT programs among jurisdictions in the Western US were the least effective by our estimates, averting 488 cases per 100,000 (in our low impact scenario) to 568 (in our high impact scenario).

When we maximized compliance among interviewed cases and notified contacts (Table 6), we estimated that CICT could have averted 1.72 million cases and 42,2631 hospitalizations (approximately 26% greater than our high baseline estimate) across the 23 jurisdictions during the 60-day study period. And, when we accounted for the potential that some cases and contacts would have isolated and quarantined even without CICT program interviews or notification, we estimated that CICT would have averted 0.77 to 1.01 million cases and 18,998 to 24,845 hospitalizations (30% and 26% less than our baseline low and high impact estimates, respectively).





B: Averted Cases per 100,000 Population

Table 7. COVID19	Case Investigation and	Contact Tracing	Effectiveness and	Health Impacts	, by US Censu	s Region (from
11/25/20 - 1/23/21)	1					

			Daily	CICT Effectiveness ^b ,		Estimated Cases Averted,		Estimated Cases		
			COVID-19	Median (Range)		Median (Range)		Averted per 100k		
			Incidence						Popul	lation,
			per 100k,						Median	(Range)
US Census	No.	Total	mean	Days from	Cases	Cases	Low	High	Low	High
Regions	States ^c	Population	(Range)	infection to	isolated,	isolated,				
				isolation	low (%)	high (%)				
Midwest	5	30,947,757	58	7	17	19	73,780	84,523	1,444	1,600
			(42-75)	(6-7)	(15-25)	(18-28)	(19,577-121,865)	(23,221-158,766)	(639-2,213)	(838-2,727)
Northeast	5	25,348,752	59	7	16	19	32,084	41,194	900	1,155
			(19-92)	(6-10)	(4-35)	(5-34)	(5,921-66,362)	(7,005-86,692)	(53-6,139)	(62-8,183)
South	7	33,384,859	55	8	19	24	21,170	27,473	670	895
			(22-88)	(7-12)	(14-41)	(16-49)	(5,466-120,157)	(6,452-156,557)	(80-1,987)	(94-2,590)
West	6	49,893,913	61	8	14	17	19,484	24,326	488	568
			(28-94)	(7-9)	(4-23)	(5-24)	(4,858-207,417)	(5,721-252,325)	(271-704)	(336-856)
Total	23	139,575,281	58	7	17	19	22,014	27,473	704	895
			(19-94)	(6-12)	(4-41)	(5-49)	(4,858-207,417)	(5,721-252,325)	(53-6,139)	(62-8,183)

Notes: Range = minimum and maximum values

^a Defined by the US Census Bureau [71].

^b Days from infection to isolation calculated using jurisdictions' reported days from testing to case and contact notification, the COVID-19 incubation period, and assumptions regarding the timing of entry into isolation/quarantine after notification. Percent cases isolated calculated from jurisdictions' reported metrics on CICT program performance, such as the proportions of cases interviewed, and contacts notified or monitored. The lower estimates assume a fraction of interviewed cases and contacts complied with isolation and quarantine guidelines, while the high estimates assume all interviewed cases and monitored contacts did so (Table 6 and Appendix 3).

^c Includes 22 states (3 with a major city excluded) and 1 territory.

DISCUSSION

In this decision analytical model study, we estimated that CICT programs in 23 US jurisdictions potentially averted 1.11-1.36 million cases and 27,231-33,527 hospitalizations in a 60-day period during the 2020-21 winter surge. There were 5,269,390 total cases reported across these jurisdictions during the same 60-day period, suggesting that CICT may have reduced the COVID-19 burden by 17 to 21%. Our range of estimates reflect uncertainties regarding the proportions of cases and contacts that effectively isolated or quarantined because of interactions with their health departments. Despite this uncertainty, our estimates of CICT impact were substantial, with averted cases exceeding 1 million across the 23 jurisdictions in our low impact scenario.

While our aggregate estimated impact was sizeable, it was uneven across the jurisdictions: In the lowest performing jurisdiction, we estimated that CICT averted 1 out of every 100 remaining cases not prevented by nascent vaccination efforts and other NPIs, and as many as 66 cases in the highest performing jurisdiction. We also found that population size was correlated with our estimates of CICT impact. On average, our estimates suggest that jurisdictions with larger populations averted more cases, although this was expected given their larger populations eligible for protection. Conversely, the smallest jurisdictions averted the most cases on a perpopulation basis. This result may reflect, in part, that smaller jurisdictions were able to rely on existing CICT staff who had community knowledge and experience connecting with the population, while the caseloads in larger jurisdictions required hiring temporary, less experienced staff. A multivariable analysis, using data from several months of the pandemic, is needed to tease apart the effects of such factors. For example, population size alone cannot explain the variability in our estimated impacts. Jurisdictions 5, 6, and 7 were in different

61

population categories (with jurisdiction 5 being 10 times larger than jurisdiction 6), but all three jurisdictions averted approximately 87,000 cases under our high impact scenario (Figure 6, Panel A). Jurisdiction 6's CICT program is also notable for averting the most cases per 100,000. This result reflects the jurisdiction's success at interviewing cases (79% interviewed and >50% named at least 1 contact) and being among the fastest to notify contacts (6 days after cases were likely infected).

We also found regional differences in CICT impact. Based on the median averted case estimates per 100,000 population, Midwest jurisdictions' CICT programs performed the best, while CICT programs in Western jurisdictions were least impactful. Future studies exploring the potential reasons for these differences may consider incidence, factors affecting public acceptance of CICT (*e.g.*, sociodemographic makeup and cultural norms), and aspects of program implementation (*e.g.*, staffing levels and efficiency).

Our sizeable estimates of averted cases are partially due to the success of the analyzed CICT programs at suppressing the transmission not controlled by vaccination and other NPIs, compounded over approximately 10 generations of infection during our 60-day observation period. For example, at jurisdiction 1, where our estimates of the absolute impact of CICT was greatest, CICT was responsible for just a 3.0 to 3.5% reduction in new infections per case (Table A5 in Appendix 3). However, jurisdiction 1 also had a very large burden of infectious cases at the start of our 60-day period and was one of the largest jurisdictions. This example shows that even when the percentage reduction in transmission from CICT is in the low single digits, when applied to large populations, the influence over multiple generations of cases is meaningful. This analysis was possible because of the rich and unique programmatic data provided by jurisdictions and the use of assumptions to address key uncertainties, such as the compliance

62

with public health recommendations. Still, important information was absent. As such, our results of CICT's impact may over- or under-estimate the true impact. Our impact estimates may be low because we do not account for the indirect effects of CICT programs on transmission reductions. For example, due to their interactions with health department staff, cases and contacts may have additionally notified and motivated isolation/quarantining among close contacts whom, themselves, were not contacted by the CICT program. And some individuals may have isolated/quarantined without being contacted, because of CICT program-funded ad campaigns or information obtained from their health department's website. Other factors may have affected our estimates, although the direction of their effect is less clear. For example, we may have overor under-estimated CICT's impact if the calculated number of contacts per case for each jurisdiction (Appendix 3, Term B.1.1), the timing of testing and initiation of isolation/quarantine, or the compliance with public health recommendations differed from our examined scenarios. This study was performed before the Delta or Omicron variants dominated transmission in the US, and before vaccine was widely available. Increasing vaccination may be expected to reduce the absolute number of cases eligible to be averted by CICT. However, CICT's effectiveness (*i.e.*, percent of cases isolated by CICT) would increase if jurisdictions are able to prioritize notification and monitoring of unvaccinated or under-vaccinated populations, especially during periods of high caseloads. Further, the impact of CICT can be potentially reduced when Delta or Omicron variants are predominately circulating due to their earlier and shorter duration of infectiousness. Alternatively, the higher transmissibility of the Delta and Omicron variants potentially increases CICT's impact since each averted case prevents more new infections than we originally allowed. The degree to which these factors offset one another is unclear.

Our study has several strengths. Foremost, the breadth of data on CICT implementation enabled us to generate a profile of CICT impact for nearly half of the US. By anonymizing jurisdictions and assessing the same time frame, we were able to present and compare the range of impacts among 23 CICT programs spanning the country. Further, this work can be replicated for other jurisdictions and time periods. The tool that we used, COVIDTracer Advanced [69], is provided (Appendix 4) and designed for use by practicing public health officials. Jurisdictions can conduct site-specific analyses using these methods to estimate prevention impact, guide local public health programming, and reflect on resource utilization (*e.g.*, hospital beds).

Our study also has limitations. Jurisdictions' self-reported CICT performance measures were not intended for this analysis. Although we employed the previously described data quality checks (Figure A3 in Appendix 3), the reported measures that we used were likely influenced by differences in jurisdictions' surveillance systems, CICT platforms and protocols (e.g., how they defined, enrolled, and monitored contacts). The extent to which these differences affected our results is unclear. We also only assess the impact over two months (60 days) of the pandemic and in 23 US jurisdictions. Results may differ for other jurisdictions and periods (e.g., during the Delta or Omicron surges and wider use of vaccine). Because cases were spiking across the entire US during the period that we analyzed and the vaccine had not yet been widely administered, it is likely that our estimates provide an upper limit of cases averted by CICT during the pandemic as of this writing (August 31, 2021). Also, because we used statewide data, our results dilute potentially meaningful differences in CICT performance within jurisdictions (e.g., rural versus urban counties). Finally, the accuracy of our results may be affected by our model's design. For example, the COVIDTracer Advanced model assumes homogeneous mixing among individuals in the population and does not account for any age- or location-based heterogeneities in

transmission (such as within and between households or schools), or variations in the effectiveness of vaccine and other NPIs over the study period. The extent of the influence of these factors, however, appears limited and would not appreciably alter our estimates or their implications for public health policy makers (see Appendix 3, *Additional Results and Commentary, Effect of alternate fitting methods*, Figure A5 and Table A6).

Our analysis combined primary implementation data with mathematical modeling to estimate the health impact of COVID-19 case investigation and contact tracing programs across nearly half of US state and territory. The volume of estimated cases and hospitalizations averted underscores the critical role CICT programs play in curtailing the pandemic, while differences among jurisdictions illustrate the opportunities to further improve effectiveness. Case investigation and contact tracing remain CDC-recommended practices for personally communicating individualized prevention activities against COVID-19 [75]. This work quantifies for public health decision makers the benefits from sustaining and improving these programs.

CHAPTER 5 – Dissertation Summary and Future Directions of Research

The results of studies in this dissertation demonstrates the value of the biological and public health sciences and the benefits of investing in public health infrastructure and programs. We estimated millions of averted healthcare visits across all three studies by employing the immunizations and non-pharmaceutical interventions examined. Additionally, our evaluation of CICT is the first (to our knowledge) to offer policy makers with a profile of this intervention's impact across the US.

With the provided models, each study enables decision makers to rapidly evaluate on their own, locally applicable policy scenarios and their effects on healthcare capacity, both now and in the future. For example, the illustrative results produced with our RSV I²M, can be updated by using the results of future clinical studies on the efficacy and length of protection offered by the immunization products evaluated, even post-licensure. And, even though we found limited impact of the evaluated products on deaths averted in the United States, our analysis can be rerun in other countries where RSV-associated deaths are more common. Similarly, our models examining the effects of non-pharmaceutical interventions such as social distancing measures and contact tracing on COVID19 healthcare utilization were able to be rapidly updated by public health practitioners. Practitioner's ability to evaluate "what-if" scenarios as they arise is paramount in the early phase of outbreak, where a delay in decision-making may be more costly than the choice of intervention itself (as we showed). And this flexibility may be useful in the future too as the models in our latter studies can be reused for the next respiratory disease outbreak. Future enhancements to these models can include an accounting for vaccination or variabilities in contact patterns associated with population social and spatial structures that can affect disease dynamics. Our analysis of CICT revealed large variabilities in the performance of

states. Future research should endeavor to understand these differences and the extent to which they are associated with either programmatic implementation options (under the control of public health officials) or societal characteristics that dictate public reception to phone calls from health departments and isolation/quarantine guidance. Additionally, this analysis can be replicated for periods where other COVID variants (i.e., Delta or Omicron) dominated transmission.

The models in this dissertation were developed with the intent that practicing public health officials would use them to assist with decision-making. This aim steered us to make several methodological and practical choices during their development that distinguish them from models, for example, that are produced for the purposes of academic research. The guiding attributes we used are provided in Table 8 and may be considered as a subjective list that define a "good" model from the public health practitioner perspective. In this table, attributes are assigned to either improving model utility, trust in the model, and/or accessibility. Model utility refers to the degree to which model outputs satisfy questions public health practitioners desire to answer with the model. A useful model is one that provides practitioners with a complete understanding of how to interpret the results, along with any uncertainty and limitations associated with them. Trust in the model refers to the practitioners' confidence that the methods employed sufficiently account for all the critical features of disease dynamics and interventions considered and that the results are valid. Finally, accessibility refers to the ease with which users can use the model to produce results. This entails the cost to run a model (when specific software must be purchased) and the time needed to learn how to use the model, including the time needed to familiarize oneself with the navigation of the interface, input and output definitions, assumptions, and obtaining the necessary input data.

Model Attributes	Example from the three dissertation studies	Utility	Trust in the Model	Accessibility
Software-related				
Transparent and modifiable calculations	No programming language knowledge needed to review formulas or logic		Х	Х
Free, ubiquitous, & familiar platform	We used spreadsheets for all models		Х	Х
Model framework – related				
Use the simplest useful model	 Employed a Cohort-type model to evaluate RSV immunization effects versus a model that accounts for few anticipated herd effects. Assumed homogenous population mixing for both COVID19 models versus parameterizing complex and uncertain contact structures. 		Х	Х
Results/Outcomes are understandable	Use of averted healthcare visits and hospitalizations as outcomes from all models are easy to explain and justify to non-modelers (e.g., politicians and the public).	Х		Х
Key inputs are values familiar to public health officials	CICT evaluation model inputs on program performance were generated by health departments, the intended audience (versus parameters on disease dynamics [e.g., infectivity distribution] which were provided).	Х	Х	Х
Calculations rely on algebraic math	Discretized the time step of analyses in compartmental models versus relying on differential equations.		Х	Х
How the models accommodate desired u	ise			
Model's purpose is clear, designed to answer just a few, focused questions	The stated goal for RSV I^2M clarifies the intended beneficiary of the intervention (infants < 1yr), the time horizon evaluated (their first RSV season), and the measure of efficacy (medically attended LRTI visits).	Х	Х	
Model deals with uncertainty	 The range of CICT's estimated impact was based on the degree of isolation/quarantine compliance, an unknown quantity. COVID19 forecasts of healthcare use were produced for a range of social-distancing effects 	Х	Х	
Assumptions and sources explicitly presented in the modeling tools			Х	
Support examination of multiple scenarios that interest practitioners	COVIDTracer Advanced allows users to enter up to 3 contact tracing effectiveness scenarios simultaneously and compare the associated simulated epidemic curves	X		
Models can be readily updated with new data	Users of RSV I ² M can easily toggle uptake, efficacy, and duration of protection values	Х		

Table 8. Model attributes associated with useful, trusted, and accessible models from a public health practitioners' perspective.

Those who wish to produce their own models for public health officials may evaluate their efforts by considering Table 8 as a checklist of sorts, seeing how many of the listed attributes describe their model. Ultimately, however, models should be evaluated on whether they are used or not and on feedback received from the intended audience. The RSV I²M model was used by coauthors to generate results on averted healthcare visits that were presented to the US Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), the body which develops recommendations for U.S. immunizations, including ages when vaccines should be given, number of doses, time between doses, and precautions and contraindications. And coauthors of the model evaluating social-distancing impacts on COVID19 transmission presented results to the Chilean Ministry of Health soon after the model was developed. Those results contributed to decisions to aggressively implement and expand various social distancing measures in Chile. Finally, this model's calculations served as the basis for CDC's COVIDSurge model, one of three models produced by CDC, including COVIDTracer Advanced used in study 3, that were downloaded more than 100,000 times over the course of the pandemic (CDC, unpublished).

REFERENCES

- 1. Shi, T., et al., Global, regional, and national disease burden estimates of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children in 2015: a systematic review and modelling study. Lancet, 2017. **390**(10098): p. 946-958.
- 2. Hall, C.B., et al., The burden of respiratory syncytial virus infection in young children. N Engl J Med, 2009. **360**(6): p. 588-98.
- 3. Byington, C.L., et al., Respiratory syncytial virus-associated mortality in hospitalized infants and young children. Pediatrics, 2015. **135**(1): p. e24-31.
- 4. Hall, C.B., et al., Respiratory syncytial virus-associated hospitalizations among children less than 24 months of age. Pediatrics, 2013. **132**(2): p. e341-8. doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-0303. Epub 2013 Jul 22.
- 5. Lively, J.Y., et al., Respiratory Syncytial Virus-Associated Outpatient Visits Among Children Younger Than 24 Months. J Pediatric Infect Dis Soc, 2019.
- 6. Rose, E.B., et al., Respiratory Syncytial Virus Seasonality United States, 2014-2017. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 2018. **67**(2): p. 71-76.
- 7. Haynes, A.K., et al., Respiratory syncytial virus circulation in seven countries with Global Disease Detection Regional Centers. J Infect Dis, 2013. **208 Suppl 3**: p. S246-54.
- 8. AAP, Red Book. 31st ed. Report of the Committee on Infectious Diseases, ed. D.W. Kimberlin, et al. 2018, Itasca, IL: American Academy of Pediatrics.
- 9. PATH. RSV Vaccine and mAb Snapshot. 2018 [cited 2018 July 6]; Available from: https://vaccineresources.org/files/RSV-snapshot-2018Dec_High%20Resolution%20V3.pdf.
- MedImmune. A Study to Evaluate the Safety and Efficacy of MEDI8897 for the Prevention of Medically Attended RSV LRTI in Healthy Preterm Infants. (MEDI8897 Ph2b). 2016 [cited 2018 September 4]; Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02878330?term=MEDI8897&cond=RSV+Infectio n&rank=1.
- 11. Novavax. A Study to Determine the Safety and Efficacy of the RSV F Vaccine to Protect Infants Via Maternal Immunization. 2015 [cited 2018 September 4]; Available from: https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02624947.
- 12. Acedo, L., et al., Mathematical modelling of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV): vaccination strategies and budget applications. Epidemiol Infect, 2010. **138**(6): p. 853-60.
- 13. Cromer, D., et al., Burden of paediatric respiratory syncytial virus disease and potential effect of different immunisation strategies: a modelling and cost-effectiveness analysis for England. Lancet Public Health, 2017. **2**(8): p. e367-e374.
- 14. AAP, *Red Book.* 31st ed. Report of the Committee on Infectious Diseases, ed. D.W. Kimberlin, et al. 2018, Itasca, IL: American Academy of Pediatrics.

- 15. Martin, J.A., et al., *Births : final data for 2016*. National vital statistics reports, 2018.
 67(1).
- 16. Pavilack, M., et al., *Trends in Utilization of Outpatient Respiratory Syncytial Virus Prophylaxis with Palivizumab among Medicaid- and Commercially Insured Infants.* Infect Dis Ther, 2017.
- 17. Stewart, D.L., et al., Association of RSV-related hospitalization and non-compliance with palivizumab among commercially insured infants: a retrospective claims analysis. BMC Infect Dis, 2013. **13**: p. 334.
- 18. Wong, S.K., et al., *Adherence and outcomes: a systematic review of palivizumab utilization.* Expert Rev Respir Med, 2018. **12**(1): p. 27-42.
- 19. *Estimates of Flu Vaccination Coverage among Children United States, 2017–18 Flu Season, in FluVaxView.* 2018, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC).
- 20. Hill, H.A., et al., *Vaccination Coverage Among Children Aged 19-35 Months United States, 2016.* MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 2017. **66**(43): p. 1171-1177.
- Healy, C.M., et al., *Tetanus and diphtheria toxoids and acellular pertussis vaccine uptake during pregnancy in a metropolitan tertiary care center*. Vaccine, 2015. **33**(38): p. 4983-7.
- 22. Andabaka, T., et al., *Monoclonal antibody for reducing the risk of respiratory syncytial virus infection in children*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2013(4): p. Cd006602.
- 23. O'Brien, K.L., et al., *Efficacy of motavizumab for the prevention of respiratory syncytial virus disease in healthy Native American infants: a phase 3 randomised double-blind placebo-controlled trial.* Lancet Infect Dis, 2015. **15**(12): p. 1398-408.
- 24. Feltes, T.F., et al., *Palivizumab prophylaxis reduces hospitalization due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children with hemodynamically significant congenital heart disease*. J Pediatr, 2003. **143**(4): p. 532-40.
- 25. IMpact, *The IMpact-RSV Study Group. Palivizumab, a humanized respiratory syncytial virus monoclonal antibody, reduces hospitalization from respiratory syncytial virus infection in high-risk infants.* Pediatrics, 1998. **102**(3 Pt 1): p. 531-7.
- 26. Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, et al. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med 2020.
- 27. Dong E, Du H, Gardner L. An interactive web-based dashboard to track COVID-19 in real time. Lancet Infect Dis 2020;online first.
- World Health Organization. Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Outbreak; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019. [Accessed 17 March 2020].
- 29. Ferguson N, Laydon D, Nedjati Gilani G, Imai N, Ainslie K, Baguelin M, et al. Report 9: Impact of non-pharmaceutical interventions (NPIs) to reduce COVID19 mortality and healthcare demand. 2020.
- 30. Kissler SM, Tedijanto C, Lipsitch M, Grad Y. Social distancing strategies for curbing the COVID-19 epidemic. medRxiv 2020.
- 31. Walker PG, Whittaker C, Watson O, Baguelin M, Ainslie K, Bhatia S, et al. The Global Impact of COVID-19 and Strategies for Mitigation and Suppression. On behalf of the imperial college covid-19 response team, Imperial College of London 2020.
- 32. Flaxman S, Mishra S, Gandy A. Estimating the number of infections and the impact of non-pharmaceutical interventions on COVID-19 in 11 European countries. Imperial College COVID-19 Response Team 2020;30.
- 33. Healthcare P. COVID-19 Hospital Impact Model for Epidemics (CHIME); 2020. Available from: https://penn-chime.phl.io/. [Accessed 3/31/20].
- 34. Henderson M. Covid Act Now. 2020. p. https://www.covidactnow.org/.
- 35. Willem L, Hoang TV, Funk S, Coletti P, Beutels P, Hens N. SOCRATES: An online tool leveraging a social contact data sharing initiative to assess mitigation strategies for COVID-19. medRxiv 2020:2020.03.03.20030627.
- 36. Lauer SA, Grantz KH, Bi Q, Jones FK, Zheng Q, Meredith HR, et al. The incubation period of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) from publicly reported confirmed cases: estimation and application. Annals of internal medicine 2020.
- 37. You C, Deng Y, Hu W, Sun J, Lin Q, Zhou F, et al. Estimation of the Time-Varying Reproduction Number of COVID-19 Outbreak in China. medRxiv 2020:2020.02.08.20021253.
- 38. Li Q, Guan X, Wu P, Wang X, Zhou L, Tong Y, et al. Early transmission dynamics in Wuhan, China, of novel coronavirus–infected pneumonia. N Engl J Med 2020.
- 39. Riou J, Althaus CL. Pattern of early human-to-human transmission of Wuhan 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV), December 2019 to January 2020. Eurosurveillance 2020;25(4).
- 40. Nature. First vaccine clinical trials begin in the United States; 2020. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-020-00154-w. [Accessed March 17 2020].
- 41. Verity R, Okell LC, Dorigatti I, Winskill P, Whittaker C, Imai N, et al. Estimates of the severity of coronavirus disease 2019: a model-based analysis. Lancet Infect Dis 2020.
- 42. ICNARC. ICNARC report on COVID-19 in critical care. 27 March 2020. London: Intensive Care National Audit & Research Centre; 2020.
- 43. Chen J, Qi T, Liu L, Ling Y, Qian Z, Li T, et al. Clinical progression of patients with COVID-19 in Shanghai, China. J Infect 2020.
- 44. Linton NM, Kobayashi T, Yang Y, Hayashi K, Akhmetzhanov AR, Jung S-m, et al. Incubation period and other epidemiological characteristics of 2019 novel coronavirus infections with right truncation: a statistical analysis of publicly available case data. Journal of clinical medicine 2020;9(2):538.
- 45. Zhang G, Hu C, Luo L, Fang F, Chen Y, Li J, et al. Clinical features and outcomes of 221 patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. medRxiv 2020.
- 46. Deng X, Yang J, Wang W, Wang X, Zhou J, Chen Z, et al. Case fatality risk of novel coronavirus diseases 2019 in China. medRxiv 2020.

- 47. Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, Zhu F, Liu X, Zhang J, et al. Clinical characteristics of 138 hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirus–infected pneumonia in Wuhan, China. Jama 2020.
- 48. Meltzer MI, Patel A, Ajao A, Nystrom SV, Koonin LM. Estimates of the demand for mechanical ventilation in the United States during an influenza pandemic. Clin Infect Dis 2015;60(suppl_1):S52-S7.
- 49. Yang X, Yu Y, Xu J, Shu H, Xia Ja, Liu H, et al. Clinical course and outcomes of critically ill patients with SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a single-centered, retrospective, observational study. The Lancet Respiratory Medicine 2020.
- 50. Zhang Z, Yao W, Wang Y, Long C, Fu X. Wuhan and Hubei COVID-19 mortality analysis reveals the critical role of timely supply of medical resources. medRxiv 2020.
- 51. Ministry of Health. Cifras Oficiales COVID-19; 2020a. Available from: https://www.gob.cl/coronavirus/cifrasoficiales/. [Accessed April 2 2020].
- 52. Ministry of Health. Dispone medidas sanitarias que indica por brote de COVID-19. Norms 1143498, 1143591, 1746958. In: Ministry of Health Chile, editor. Santiago: Biblioteca del Congreso Nacional de Chile; 2020b.
- 53. Ministry of Health. Dispone régimen especial de cumplimiento de jornada laboral y flexibilidad horaria por brote de coronavirus (COVID-19). Norm 1143629; 2020c. Available from: https://www.leychile.cl/N?i=1143629&f=2020-03-20&p=.
- 54. Instituto Nacional de Estadísticas. Estimaciones y proyecciones de la población de Chile 1992-2050; 2017. Available from: <u>https://www.censo2017.cl/</u>. [Accessed April 2 2020].
- 55. Latorre R, Sandoval G. El mapa actualizado de las camas de hospitales en Chile. La Tercera. Santiago, Chile2020.
- 56. OECD. Health at a Glance 2019: OECD Indicators. Paris: OECD Publishing, 2019.
- 57. Wunsch H, Wagner J, Herlim M, Chong D, Kramer A, Halpern SD. ICU occupancy and mechanical ventilator use in the United States. Critical care medicine 2013;41(12).
- 58. Wu Z, McGoogan JM. Characteristics of and important lessons from the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in China: summary of a report of 72 314 cases from the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Jama 2020.
- 59. Lipsitch M, Viboud C. Influenza seasonality: lifting the fog. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2009;106(10):3645-6.
- 60. Shaman J, Kohn M. Absolute humidity modulates influenza survival, transmission, and seasonality. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2009;106(9):3243-8.
- 61. Wu JT, Leung K, Bushman M, Kishore N, Niehus R, de Salazar PM, et al. Estimating clinical severity of COVID-19 from the transmission dynamics in Wuhan, China. Nat Med 2020.
- 62. Silberner J. Now Isn't the Time to Abandon Contact Tracing. *Wired*. 2021. 08/26/2021. Accessed 9/17/2021. https://www.wired.com/story/contact-tracing-delta-variant/
- 63. Jeon S, Rainisch G, Lash RR, et al. Estimates of cases and hospitalizations averted by COVID-19 case investigation and contact tracing in 14 health jurisdictions in the United

States. Journal of Public Health Management and Practice. 2021;28(1):16-24. doi:10.1097/PHH.000000000001420

- 64. Kilmarx PH, Long T, Reid MJA. A National Public Health Workforce to Control COVID-19 and Address Health Disparities in the United States Open Forum Infectious Diseases. 2021;8(7):ofab304. doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofab304
- Lash RR, Moonan PK, Byers BL, et al. COVID-19 contact tracing in the United States, 2020. JAMA Network Open. 2021;4(6):e2115850. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.15850
- 66. Stargel A, Zansky S, Taylor MM, et al. Case Investigation and Contact Tracing Efforts from Health Departments in the United States from November 2020 to March 2021. Public Health Reports. 2021;In Press
- 67. Lewis D. Why many countries failed at COVID contact-tracing but some got it right. Nature. 2020;588:384-387. doi:https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-020-03518-4
- 68. The Challenges of Contact Tracing as U.S. Battles COVID-19. 2020. October. <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2020/10/30/the-challenges-of-contact-tracing-as-u-s-battles-covid-19/</u>
- 69. Adhikari BB, Arifkhanova A, Coronado F, et al. COVIDTracer Advanced: A Planning Tool to Illustrate the Resources Needed to Conduct Contact Tracing and Monitoring of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) Cases and the Potential Impact of Community Interventions and Contact Tracing Efforts on the Spread of COVID-19 <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/php/contact-</u> <u>tracing/COVIDTracerTools.html</u>
- 70. CDC. COVID Data Tracker. <u>https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker/</u>
- 71. US Census Bureau. Aug 6, 2021. <u>https://www2.census.gov/geo/pdfs/maps-data/maps/reference/us_regdiv.pdf</u>
- 72. CDC. COVID-19: If You Are Sick, When To Quarantine. Aug 12, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/if-you-are-sick/quarantine.html
- Park CL, Russell BS, Fendrich M, Finkelstein-Fox L, Hutchison M, Becker J. Americans' COVID-19 Stress, Coping, and Adherence to CDC Guidelines. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2020;35:2296–2303.
- 74. Smith LE, Potts HWW, Amlôt R, Fear NT, Michie S, Rubin GJ. Adherence to the test, trace, and isolate system in the UK: results from 37 nationally representative surveys. BMJ. 2021;372:n608. doi:https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n608
- 75. CDC. Interim Guidance on Developing a COVID-19 Case Investigation & Contact Tracing Plan: Overview. Aug 12, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019ncov/php/contact-tracing/contact-tracing-plan/overview.html

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1 – Additional Methods and Results for Study 1	76
APPENDIX 2 - Additional Methods and Results for Study 2	85
APPENDIX 3 – Additional Methods and Results for Study 3	99
APPENDIX 4 - Instructions for using COVIDTracer Advanced Special Edition	124

APPENDIX 1 – Additional Methods and Results for Study 1

RSV I²M can be downloaded here: <u>https://ars.els-cdn.com/content/image/1-s2.0-</u> S0264410X19313866-mmc1.xlsx

Illustrative Scenario Inputs

Table 2 in the main text outlines the major inputs and parameter values used in this illustration. Our modeled annual birth cohort was 3,945,875, based on the 2016 Vital Statistics Report [22]. The proportion of high-risk births was based on a recent study that assessed palivizumab utilization [23]. Hospitalization rates for high-risk infants were based on hospitalization rates found amongst those who did not receive palivizumab in the original clinical trials [31, 32]. We obtained all-risk rates of MA-RSVi from population-based surveillance data published by the New Vaccine Surveillance Network (NVSN, Table A1) [4, 5]. We based the proportions of outpatient clinic and ED visits resulting in an LRTI on the average proportion of lab-confirmed RSV visits in NVSN from 2002-2009 with any of the following diagnoses: croup, bronchiolitis, bronchitis, pneumonia, or asthma (CDC, unpublished). All hospitalized patients were assumed to have an LRTI. Case fatality ratios among hospitalized infants were based on estimates for high income/industrialized countries [1]. The RSV season was determined by the monthly distribution of outpatient, ED and hospital visits across NVSN during the 2000-2009 seasons (CDC, unpublished; Figure A1). The estimate for palivizumab uptake (38%) is based on a recent study that defined compliance as receipt of all recommended doses [24, 25]. For the Antibody Candidate (anticipated to be a single injection), we assumed 71% uptake among low-risk newborns, based upon vaccination rates for the birth dose of hepatitis B vaccine [27], and 80% among high-risk newborns, which is an estimate of the percent of high-risk newborns that receive at least one dose of palivizumab [23]. For the Maternal Vaccine Candidate, we based uptake (56%) on TdaP (tetanus, diphtheria, and pertussis) immunization in pregnant women because, like the maternal RSV vaccine, it is also given in the third trimester of pregnancy [28]. The efficacy used for palivizumab (51%) was based on a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials among high-risk infants where the endpoint was hospitalizations [29]. For the model, we assumed palivizumab reduces outpatient clinic and ED visits by the same percentage as hospitalizations. For the antibody candidate, we based efficacy (80%) against inpatient and outpatient MA-RSVi on findings from a clinical trial in term infants

of an antibody product similar to palivizumab [30]. Since maternal vaccine also provides passive antibody protection to infants, we used the same efficacy for this product. We used 0.919 for the maternal vaccine reduction factor, which accounts for the percentage of infants acquiring antibodies successfully from their mothers (see Appendix 2 section "Maternal Vaccine Candidate"). Duration of protection was based on the endpoints of the clinical trials for each of the products (Table 2, main text) [10, 11, 31, 32].

Table A1

US Population-based Rates per 1000 for Medically-Attended RSV infections by health care setting and month-of-age

	Outpa	atient Clinic	Emerge	ncy Department		
	V	<u>'isits</u> [5]		<u>Visits</u> [5]		talizations [4]
Age (months)	Rate	95% CI	Rate	95% CI	Rate	95% CI
0	85.2	(71.0-99.3)	19.6	(16.8-22.4)	13.5	(10.3-17.1)
1	187.9	(156.6-219.1)	64.2	(54.9-73.4)	25.9	(21.3-30.8)
2	234.2	(195.2-273.1)	72.4	(62.0-82.9)	14.3	(11.1-17.8)
3	232.6	(194.0-271.3)	105.2	(90.1-120.4)	10.3	(7.7-13.5)
4	265.0	(221.0-309.1)	116.0	(99.3-132.7)	8.9	(6.3-11.8)
5	289.2	(241.1-337.2)	71.3	(61.1-81.6)	4.8	(2.9-7.0)
6	264.7	(220.7-308.7)	81.8	(70.1-93.6)	4.1	(2.5-6.2)
7	207.2	(172.8-241.7)	56.1	(48.0-64.2)	5.6	(3.6-8.0)
8	277.8	(231.7-324.0)	55.6	(47.6-63.5)	3.4	(1.8-5.2)
9	227.2	(189.4-264.9)	55.6	(47.6-63.6)	3.8	(2.1-6.0)
10	241.7	(201.5-281.8)	40.4	(34.6-46.2)	3.7	(2.0-5.7)
11	258.1	(215.2-301.0)	55.6	(47.6-63.6)	2.9	(1.5-4.8)



Figure A1. Seasonal Distribution of Medically-Attended RSV infections in the US (Nationallevel). Source: CDC, unpublished

"High-Risk" births and RSV risk

In our analysis "high-risk births" refers to infants who are recommended to receive palivizumab under current guidelines [8] and in our strategies I and III. In our illustrative scenario we calculated that 0.98% of all births are eligible to receive palivizumab in the US [23]. 0.98% is the sum of the percent of all births with the following three conditions associated with elevated RSVi risk: 1) hemodynamically significant congenital heart disease (CHD), 2) chronic lung disease of prematurity (CLD), and 3) prematurity (defined as <29 weeks gestation) without CHD or CLD (Table A2). We then obtained the hospitalization rates for each high-risk condition from hospitalization rates found amongst those who did not receive palivizumab in the original clinical trials [31, 32]. Next, we multiplied the percent of infants with each condition who are hospitalized with RSV by the proportion of all US births with the condition to determine the % of all live births for each high-risk condition that are hospitalized (Table A2). The sum of this product across all three conditions was 0.0913% and represents the percentage of live births with a high-risk condition that are hospitalized due to RSV. RSV I²M permits users to redefine high-risk conditions as they wish, accounting for up to four such conditions.

Table A2

High Dick condition	%, live births	%, with condition hospitalized for DSV [21 - 22]	%, live births with condition hospitalized for PSV*
nigh-Risk condition	[23]	RSV [51, 52]	IOF RS V
Hemodynamically significant	0.39%	9.7%	0.0378%
congenital heart disease (CHD)			
Chronic lung disease of	0.12%	12.8%	0.0154%
prematurity (CLD)			
Prematurity (<29 weeks gestation),	0.47%	8.1%	0.0381%
without CHD or CLD			
% of live births with a high-risk co	ondition hos	pitalized due to RSV	
		$(\text{column sum}) \rightarrow$	0.0913%

Conditions Associated with Elevated Risk for RSV Infection and Percent Hospitalized

* Product of row data in prior two columns

Proportion of high and low risk infants

Although there was a placebo-controlled trial that showed palivizumab reduces MA-RSVi without hospitalization in preterm infants 33-35 weeks [33], there are no data available regarding the efficacy of palivizumab in reducing MA-RSVi in the outpatient clinic and ED settings among infants we define as "high-risk". Therefore, we assumed the ratio of rates between high- and low-risk infants in the outpatient clinic and ED settings is the same as the ratio of hospitalization rates for high- and low-risk infants, and that palivizumab would have the same efficacy for preventing cases in these settings. We obtained the ratio of hospitalization rates for high- and low- risk infants by subtracting the expected number of high-risk hospitalizations from the expected number of all-risk hospitalizations. Expected all-risk hospitalizations were obtained by multiplying the birth cohort times the age-based rates in Table A1 and expected high-risk hospitalizations were obtained by multiplying the birth cohort times the percent of live births with a high-risk condition hospitalized due to RSV (0.0913%, from Table A2). These calculations resulted in a ratio of 8.4 low-risk visits for every high-risk visit (range 5.9 to 11.4, when using the 2.5 and 97.5 percentiles values from Table S1 for all-risk rates).



Figure. A2. Example Decision Tree Model Schematic. This schematic illustrates one of the decision trees used to track monthly birth cohorts in RSV I²M. This tree schematic is for within-RSV-season births evaluating Strategy II. Different tree structures were used for births occurring out of RSV season and the other evaluated Strategies. All trees are accessible in the RSV I²M modeling tool (S1). The probabilities associated with branching of a cohort are described in the main methods text (Table 2, main text).

Maternal Vaccine Candidate: Proportion of infants successfully immunized

In our model, the percentage of antibodies that successfully transfer from mothers receiving the maternal vaccine candidate was dependent upon a combination of the timing of vaccination relative to the infant's birth, and the infant's gestational age at birth. We assumed there would be a partial (50%) transfer two weeks post-vaccination and full (100%) transfer by four weeks post-vaccination, and that maternal antibodies would not wane prior to birth (Table S3) [34, 35]. Additionally, we took into account the fact that the efficiency of placental transfer of antibodies is dependent on gestational age. We assumed that the amount of antibody transfer would be ineffective before 33 weeks gestational age and only partially effective (50%) between 33-36 weeks gestational age. At term, the transfer would be fully effective [36]. Taking into account the distribution of gestational ages of when births occur [22] and when mothers receive TdaP vaccination (CDC, unpublished), we calculated that ~92% of antibodies that are needed to protect the cohort of infants would be successfully transferred across the immunized population. Since the protective level of antibodies needed to offer full protection has not been established,

we used this value as a proxy reduction factor for maternal vaccine efficacy. That is, we multiplied the percent protected by maternal vaccine by 0.92 to obtain the overall efficacy of maternal vaccine.

Table A3.

Proportion of mat	ernal va	ccinati	ons with	success	tul tran	ster of	antiboo	dies to	the infa	ant, by	
gestational age at	immuni	zation	and birth	1							
Gestational		Perce	nt of Vaccir	nations Adr	ninistere	d (2nd ro	w) by Ge	stational	Age in w	eeks (to	p row)
Age, Birth	Percent	<28	28	29	30	31	32	33	34	35	36
7	of Distless	2.00/	1 4 40/	1 4 40/	1 4 40/	1 4 40/	1 4 40/	12.00/	10.00/	2.00/	0.00

• . •

	Age, Birth	Percent	<28	28	29	30	31	32	33	34	35	36
	(weeks)	of Births	3.0%	14.4%	14.4%	14.4%	14.4%	14.4%	12.0%	10.0%	3.0%	0.0%
High-risk	<28	0.68%	0%	NA								
births	28	0.23%	0%	0%	NA							
	29	0.23%	0%	0%	0%	NA						
	30	0.23%	0%	0%	0%	0%	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	31	0.23%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Pre-term	32	0.59%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	NA	NA	NA	NA
births	33	0.59%	50%	50%	50%	50%	25%	0%	0%	NA	NA	NA
	34	2.36%	50%	50%	50%	50%	25%	25%	0%	0%	NA	NA
	35	2.36%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	25%	25%	0%	0%	NA
	36	2.36%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	50%	25%	25%	0%	0%
	37	12.74%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	50%	50%	0%
Full torm	38	12.74%	100%	50%	50%							
birthc	39	28.97%	100%	50%								
DITUIS	40	28.97%	100%									
	41	6.38%	100%									
	42+	0.35%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
Propor	tion vaccinat	ed with	2.8%	13.5%	13.5%	13.5%	13.4%	13.3%	11.0%	8.4%	2.3%	0.0%
succes	sful Ab trans	fer*>	2.5/0						0/0	2. 170		2.0/0

* Calculated by 1) summing the product of the percent of births [22] and the proportion of antibody transfer in each row, then 2) multiplying the result by the percent of vaccinations administered for a given gestational age (percent value at top of each column, based on TdaP uptake [CDC, unpublished]), and 3) taking the sum of the column totals on the bottom row. This results in a total 91.9% successful transfer rate.

We also conducted a sensitivity analysis examining the influence of our assumption regarding the timing of immunization on the proportion of infants to whom antibodies successfully transfer. In this analysis we altered the immunization schedule so that it optimized the proportion of infants to whom antibodies successfully transfer. This was achieved when 100% of mothers receiving the maternal vaccine candidate are immunized when the fetus is exactly 29 weeks of gestational age. This improved the proportion of infants to whom antibodies successfully transfer proportion was used in our baseline illustrative scenario for the US (and all other parameters values in Table 2 remained the same), our estimated number of MA-LRTI hospitalizations prevented by the

maternal vaccine candidate increased by 170 (from 8,190 to 8,360), prevented MA-LRTI ED visits increased by 380 (from 19,580 to 19,960), and prevented MA-LRTI outpatient clinic visits increased 1,140 (from 58,210 to 59,350).

References – Appendix 1

- 1. Shi, T., et al., *Global, regional, and national disease burden estimates of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children in 2015: a systematic review and modelling study.* Lancet, 2017. **390**(10098): p. 946-958.
- 2. Hall, C.B., et al., *The burden of respiratory syncytial virus infection in young children*. N Engl J Med, 2009. **360**(6): p. 588-98.
- 3. Byington, C.L., et al., *Respiratory syncytial virus-associated mortality in hospitalized infants and young children*. Pediatrics, 2015. **135**(1): p. e24-31.
- 4. Hall, C.B., et al., *Respiratory syncytial virus-associated hospitalizations among children less than 24 months of age*. Pediatrics, 2013. **132**(2): p. e341-8. doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-0303. Epub 2013 Jul 22.
- 5. Lively, J.Y., et al., *Respiratory Syncytial Virus-Associated Outpatient Visits Among Children Younger Than 24 Months.* J Pediatric Infect Dis Soc, 2019.
- 6. Rose, E.B., et al., *Respiratory Syncytial Virus Seasonality United States*, 2014-2017. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 2018. **67**(2): p. 71-76.
- 7. Haynes, A.K., et al., *Respiratory syncytial virus circulation in seven countries with Global Disease Detection Regional Centers.* J Infect Dis, 2013. **208 Suppl 3**: p. S246-54.
- 8. AAP, *Red Book*. 31st ed. Report of the Committee on Infectious Diseases, ed. D.W. Kimberlin, et al. 2018, Itasca, IL: American Academy of Pediatrics.
- 9. PATH. *RSV Vaccine and mAb Snapshot*. 2018 [cited 2018 July 6]; Available from: https://vaccineresources.org/files/RSV-snapshot-2018Dec High%20Resolution%20V3.pdf.
- MedImmune. A Study to Evaluate the Safety and Efficacy of MEDI8897 for the Prevention of Medically Attended RSV LRTI in Healthy Preterm Infants. (MEDI8897 Ph2b). 2016 [cited 2018 September 4]; Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02878330?term=MEDI8897&cond=RSV+Infectio n&rank=1.
- 11. Novavax. A Study to Determine the Safety and Efficacy of the RSV F Vaccine to Protect Infants Via Maternal Immunization. 2015 [cited 2018 September 4]; Available from: https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02624947.
- 12. Acedo, L., et al., *Mathematical modelling of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV): vaccination strategies and budget applications*. Epidemiol Infect, 2010. **138**(6): p. 853-60.
- 13. Cromer, D., et al., Burden of paediatric respiratory syncytial virus disease and potential effect of different immunisation strategies: a modelling and cost-effectiveness analysis for England. Lancet Public Health, 2017. **2**(8): p. e367-e374.
- 14. Hogan, A.B., et al., *Potential impact of a maternal vaccine for RSV: A mathematical modelling study.* Vaccine, 2017. **35**(45): p. 6172-6179.

- 15. Pan-Ngum, W., et al., *Predicting the relative impacts of maternal and neonatal respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) vaccine target product profiles: A consensus modelling approach.* Vaccine, 2017. **35**(2): p. 403-409.
- 16. Poletti, P., et al., *Evaluating vaccination strategies for reducing infant respiratory syncytial virus infection in low-income settings.* BMC Med, 2015. **13**: p. 49.
- 17. Regnier, S.A., *Respiratory syncytial virus immunization program for the United States: impact of performance determinants of a theoretical vaccine*. Vaccine, 2013. **31**(40): p. 4347-54.
- 18. Scheltema, N.M., et al., *Potential impact of maternal vaccination on life-threatening respiratory syncytial virus infection during infancy*. Vaccine, 2018. **36**(31): p. 4693-4700.
- 19. Yamin, D., et al., *Vaccination strategies against respiratory syncytial virus*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2016. **113**(46): p. 13239-13244.
- 20. Novavax. *Phase 3 and beyond: The RSV F nanoparticle vaccine for infants via maternal immunization.* in *World Vaccine Congress.* 2019. Washington D.C.: https://novavax.com/download/files/posters/2019-World_Vaccine_Congress/2019.04.16-World_Vaccine_Congress.pdf.
- 21. Glezen, W.P., et al., *Risk of primary infection and reinfection with respiratory syncytial virus*. Am J Dis Child, 1986. **140**(6): p. 543-6.
- Martin, J.A., et al., *Births : final data for 2016*. National vital statistics reports, 2018.
 67(1).
- 23. Pavilack, M., et al., *Trends in Utilization of Outpatient Respiratory Syncytial Virus Prophylaxis with Palivizumab among Medicaid- and Commercially Insured Infants.* Infect Dis Ther, 2017.
- 24. Stewart, D.L., et al., Association of RSV-related hospitalization and non-compliance with palivizumab among commercially insured infants: a retrospective claims analysis. BMC Infect Dis, 2013. **13**: p. 334.
- 25. Wong, S.K., et al., *Adherence and outcomes: a systematic review of palivizumab utilization.* Expert Rev Respir Med, 2018. **12**(1): p. 27-42.
- 26. *Estimates of Flu Vaccination Coverage among Children United States, 2017–18 Flu Season, in FluVaxView.* 2018, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC).
- 27. Hill, H.A., et al., *Vaccination Coverage Among Children Aged 19-35 Months United States, 2016.* MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 2017. **66**(43): p. 1171-1177.
- 28. Healy, C.M., et al., *Tetanus and diphtheria toxoids and acellular pertussis vaccine uptake during pregnancy in a metropolitan tertiary care center.* Vaccine, 2015. **33**(38): p. 4983-7.
- 29. Andabaka, T., et al., *Monoclonal antibody for reducing the risk of respiratory syncytial virus infection in children*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2013(4): p. Cd006602.
- 30. O'Brien, K.L., et al., *Efficacy of motavizumab for the prevention of respiratory syncytial virus disease in healthy Native American infants: a phase 3 randomised double-blind placebo-controlled trial.* Lancet Infect Dis, 2015. **15**(12): p. 1398-408.
- 31. Feltes, T.F., et al., *Palivizumab prophylaxis reduces hospitalization due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children with hemodynamically significant congenital heart disease*. J Pediatr, 2003. **143**(4): p. 532-40.
- 32. IMpact, *The IMpact-RSV Study Group. Palivizumab, a humanized respiratory syncytial virus monoclonal antibody, reduces hospitalization from respiratory syncytial virus infection in high-risk infants.* Pediatrics, 1998. **102**(3 Pt 1): p. 531-7.

- 33. Blanken, M.O., et al., *Respiratory syncytial virus and recurrent wheeze in healthy preterm infants*. N Engl J Med., 2013. **368**(19): p. 1791-9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1211917.
- August, A. RSVV F Vaccine: Phase 2 Clinical Trial to Protect Infants via Maternal Immunization. in FIGO World Congress of Gynecology and Obstetrics. 2015. Vancouver.: <u>https://www.novavax.com/download/files/presentations/FIGO_7OCT2015_AA_P2_Data_10_14_15_FINAL_TO_USE.pdf</u>
- 35. August, A., et al., *A Phase 2 randomized, observer-blind, placebo-controlled, doseranging trial of aluminum-adjuvanted respiratory syncytial virus F particle vaccine formulations in healthy women of childbearing age.* Vaccine. 2017 Jun 27;35(30):3749-3759. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.05.045.
- 36. Palmeira, P., et al., *IgG placental transfer in healthy and pathological pregnancies*. Clin Dev Immunol, 2012. **2012**: p. 985646.

APPENDIX 2 - Additional Methods and Results for Study 2

SEIR Model (Available for Download here: https://ars.els-cdn.com/content/image/1-s2.0-

S1201971220303507-mmc1.xlsx)

The model consists of individuals who are either *Susceptible* (S), *Infected* but not yet Infectious (E), Infectious (I), Total *Recovered* and Died (D). It projects and tracks the number of individuals moving between these categories every day of the outbreak. Projections begin on the day following the date input by users for the last day of the most recent 2-weeks of cases available. On this date, there are only Susceptible and Infectious individuals. The epidemic then proceeds via a growth and decline process: As the number of susceptible individuals in the Infectious (I) category includes those who are not yet symptomatic (pre-symptomatic) but will become symptomatic, those who are symptomatic, and those who are infectious yet not exhibiting symptoms (asymptomatic). The dynamics are given by the following equations such that on any given day t, the number individuals Susceptible (S), Infectious (I), Recovered (L), and Died (D) are:

$$S_t = S_{t-1} - \left(\frac{R}{\gamma} * S_{t-1} * \frac{I_{t-1}}{N}\right)$$
$$I_t = \sum_{i=t-(1/\gamma)-\kappa-1}^{t-(1/\gamma)-1} \frac{R}{\gamma} * S_{t-1} * \frac{I_{t_i}}{N}$$
$$L_t = \left(\frac{R}{\gamma} * S_{t-(\kappa+1/\gamma)-1} * \frac{I_{t-(1/\gamma)-\kappa-1}}{N}\right)(1-\alpha)$$
$$D_t = \left(\frac{R}{\gamma} * S_{t-(\kappa+1/\gamma)-1} * \frac{I_{t-(1/\gamma)-\kappa-1}}{N}\right)\alpha$$

where:

N is the population size,

R is the number of new infections each infected persons causes with $R = R_0$ when no mitigation strategy is in place and $R=R_e$ when a mitigation strategy is being used, and

 κ is the number of days needed to become infectious after being infected.

 $1/\gamma$ is the number of days needed to recover (or die) once infectious.

 α is the proportion of infected that die (i.e., infection fatality rate (IFR)) with $\alpha = \alpha_1$ when hospitals have capacity to treat and $\alpha = \alpha_2$ when capacity is overwhelmed

Note: The Infected but not yet Infectious state (E) is not calculated each day in our tool (i.e., not given its own data column), but still contributes to the model by delaying when infected persons begin to contribute to the force of infection.

Reductions in R₀ Associated with Interventions

We chose the reductions in R_0 for each intervention strategy by determining the reduction applied to $R_0 = 2.4$ (no intervention) in our model which produced comparable percent declines and delays in peak critical care (ICU) bed occupancy from the "do nothing scenario" observed in Ferguson et al.'s ¹ Figure 2. Table S1 shows how these were determined.

	Obse	rved in Figure	2 of Ferguso	on et. al.	Observed in our model			
Intervention	(A) Peak	(B) Weeks	(C) Beds	(D)	(E) Median	(F) Peak	(G) Weeks	(H)
Strategy	Occupancy	peak is	Occupied	Reduction in	R_0	Occupancy	peak is	Reduction in
		delayed		Beds			delayed	Beds
		(compared		Occupied			(compared to	Occupied
		to "Do		(compared to			"Do	
		Nothing")		"Do			Nothing")	
				Nothing")				
Do Nothing	5/19/2020		2700		2.4	19,538*		
Closing Schools	5/26/2020	1	2400	11.1%	2.25	1087	1	10.9%
and Universities								
Case isolation	6/1/2020	2	1850	31.5%	1.98	831	3	31.9%
Case isolation +	6/7/2020	3	1300	51.9%	1.74	590	5	51.6%
household								
quarentine								
Case isolation,	6/10/2020	3	920	65.9%	1.57	417	8	65.8%
home								
quarantine,								
social distancing								
of >70s								
Lockdown	4/15/2020	-5	5	99.8%	0.9	3	-11	99.8%

Table A1. Summary of values used for determining the reductions in R associated with interventions

Notes

* Generated using 2,793 cases through March 31 for all of Chile (per population 17,574,003), and interventions beginning the next day (4/1/20) and continuing through the calendar year

A-C: Estimated from Figure 2 Ferguson, Laydon¹.

D: (C_{Do nothing}-C_{intervention})/ C_{Do nothing} * 100

E: Manipulated manually in our model until columns E and G approximated columns B

F-G: Observed in our model

H: (F_{Do nothing}-F_{intervention})/ F_{Do nothing} * 100

Interventions Application Timeline in Chile^{2,3}

Closure of all daycares, schools, and universities was mandated across all of Chile on March 16; followed by case isolation, and mandatory home quarantine for CoVID19 patients on March 19, and the implementation of flexible work schedules and telework for government workers began March 20. Social distancing measures across Chile include bans on nursing homes visits (03/16), closures of non-essential business (03/20, e.g., restaurants, pubs, night clubs), night curfews (03/22), and bans on meetings and events \geq 50 people (03/24). Additionally, since March 28, two major cities in Araucanía, and seven municipalities in Santiago are under a mandatory lockdown.

Age group	Chile	Metropolitana	Ñuble	Araucanía
		XIII	XVI	IX
0-9	2,376,335	937,432	61,464	133,392
10-19	2,392,112	933,218	66,179	137,493
20-29	2,861,972	1,238,583	66,985	144,782
30-39	2,501,414	1,066,451	60,993	124,652
40-49	2,359,266	951,497	67,450	128,716
50-59	2,232,733	889,726	66,574	120,577
60-69	1,499,917	579,388	46,661	84,658
70-79	879,498	333,994	29,403	53,289
80+	470,756	182,519	14,900	29,665
Urban	15,424,263	6,849,310	333,680	678,544
Rural	2,149,740	263,498	146,929	278,680
Total	17,574,003	7,112,808	480,609	957,224

Table A2. Demographics of the Chilean population in the three study regions

Notes. Chile has a total of 16 regions. Here we include the three regions that have been more heavily affected by CoVID-19 as of April 5th, 2020, since the first case was reported in march 2, as an illustration of the potential uses of the tool. Estimates for all regions have been reported to the Ministry of Health. **Source:** CENSO 2017.⁴

Table S3. Reported cases of COVID-19 by region

Region	Ν	Total	Two weeks
Metropolitana	XIII	2350	1810
Araucanía	IX	612	553
Ñuble	XVI	522	417
Chile		5116	4194

Notes. Total reported CoVID-19 cases as of April 5, 2020 Source: Ministry of Health⁵

	Basic beds			Beds/	Beds/ Intensive care			Beds/	Mech.
	Current	Increase [†]	Total	100k	Current	Increase [†]	Total	100k	Ventilator
Metropolitana	16,596	1,926	18,522	260.4	1,937	389	2,326	32.7	867
Ñuble	942	68	1,010	210.2	38	22	60	12.5	22
Araucanía	2,202	469	2,671	279.0	136	79	215	22.5	80
Chile	37,777	3,929	41,706	227.2	3,295	1,659	4,954	29.1	1,847

Table A4. Healthcare capacity: basic and intensive care beds by region, public and private hospitals

Notes.

[†]Increase refers to new beds in the health care system as a consequence of CoVID-19 response. All beds available in the healthcare system, from public and private hospitals, are now part of the "Sistema Integrado COVID-19" under the centralized administration of the Ministry of Health. An intensive care bed (ICU) consists of a cot with a monitor, healthcare professionals and medication to treat patient. Some have a mechanical ventilator. There are an estimated 1,847 mechanical ventilators; 850 currently available and 997 were acquired in January 2020.⁶ We assumed the distribution of mechanical ventilators was proportional to the number of critical beds in each region. We assumed 60% of mechanical ventilators would be available based on a three-year study of 97 ICUs in the US, including 226,942 admissions to ICUs.⁷

Source: Latorre et al. 2020⁶

B. ADDITIONAL RESULTS B.1.1 Región Metropolitana – Hospital beds

Estimated Hospital Bed Occupancy Without Mitigation



Strategy 2: Estimated Hospital Bed Occupancy with Case isolation, Home quarantine, Social Distancing >70s, and Telework



Strategy 1: Estimated Hospital Bed Occupancy with Closing Schools and Universities, and Telework



Strategy 3: Estimated Hospital Bed Occupancy with Lockdown





B.1.2 Región Metropolitana – ICU Beds



B.1.3 Región Metropolitana – Ventilators

B.2.1 Región Araucanía - Hospital beds



Estimated Hospital Bed Occupancy (non-ICU) Without Mitigation



B.2.2 Región Araucanía - ICU beds



B.2.3 Región Araucanía - Ventilators

94

B.3.1 Región Ñuble - Hospital beds



95



B.3.2 Región Ñuble - ICU beds

96





References - Appendix 2

1. Ferguson N, Laydon D, Nedjati Gilani G, et al. Report 9: Impact of non-pharmaceutical interventions (NPIs) to reduce COVID19 mortality and healthcare demand. 2020.

2. Ministry of Health. Dispone medidas sanitarias que indica por brote de COVID-19. Norms 1143498, 1143591, 1746958. In: Ministry of Health Chile, editor. Santiago: Biblioteca del Congreso Nacional de Chile; 2020.

3. Ministry of Health. Dispone régimen especial de cumplimiento de jornada laboral y flexibilidad horaria por brote de coronavirus (COVID-19). Norm 1143629. 2020. https://www.leychile.cl/N?i=1143629&f=2020-03-20&p=.

4. Instituto Nacional de Estadísticas. Estimaciones y proyecciones de la población de Chile 1992-2050. 2017. https://www.censo2017.cl/ (accessed April 2 2020).

5. Ministry of Health Chile. Cifras Oficiales COVID-19. 2020. https://www.gob.cl/coronavirus/cifrasoficiales/ (accessed April 2 2020).

6. Latorre R, Sandoval G. El mapa actualizado de las camas de hospitales en Chile. La Tercera. 2020 March 31.

7. Wunsch H, Wagner J, Herlim M, Chong D, Kramer A, Halpern SD. ICU occupancy and mechanical ventilator use in the United States. *Critical care medicine* 2013; **41**(12).

APPENDIX 3 – Additional Methods and Results for Study 3

Appendix 3 Table of Contents

COVIDTracer Advanced Model – Background information on model and parameters **Table A1.** Daily percentage risk of onward transmission by state of infectiousness and clinical symptoms.

Table A2. Epidemiological parameters, values, and sources.

Table A3. Assumed proportion of cases by age group and infection-to-
hospitalization rate, default values in COVIDTracer Advanced and sources.**Figure A1.** COVIDTracer Advanced Model Structure

Case Investigation and Contact Tracing Effectiveness – Calculations and

Assumptions

Figure A2. Illustrative example of the timing of case isolation and quarantine of infected contacts

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria for Analysis of Jurisdictions

Figure A3. Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria for Analysis of Jurisdictions

Additional Results and Commentary

- **Figure A4.** Estimated hospitalizations averted due to CICT programs, from 11/25/20 1/23/21 (60 days)
- **Table A4.** Summary of reported CICT ELC program data and calculated CICT effectiveness for 23 jurisdictions analyzed, from 11/25/20 12/24/20 (30 days)
- **Table A5.** Estimated impacts of case investigation and contact tracing (CICT), and other interventions, by location over 60-day period after contact tracing evaluations initiated
- **Table A6.** Effect of alternate fitting methods on estimates of the impact of case investigation and contact tracing (CICT) from 11/25/20 1/23/21 (60 days), under "low" CICT impact scenario
- **Figure A5.** Fitted epidemic curve outputs from COVIDTracer Advanced and observed data for the 60-day period, by jurisdiction and fitting approach

Isolation/Quarantine Compliance Scenarios: Sources and Details

COVIDTracer Advanced Model

COVIDTracer Advanced¹ is a spreadsheet-based compartmental Susceptible-Exposed-Infectious-Recovered (SEIR) epidemiological model, which illustrates the spread of a pathogen, resultant disease, and impact of interventions in a user-defined population. Readers can download the tool and enter input values of their choosing, exploring the impact of scenarios and assumptions beyond those covered in this manuscript. To model the clinical progression and transmission of disease using COVIDTracer Advanced, we used the following definitions and assumptions. A "case" was defined as a person who has been exposed, infected and subsequently becomes infectious, regardless of the presence of clinical symptoms. We assumed that for the first 3 days after infection, cases do not infect others. During days 4-5 post-infection, cases are presymptomatic but shed virus in amounts that may infect others.²⁻⁵ During days 6–14, the infected person can be symptomatic and shedding virus, albeit during days 11-14 the risk of onward transmission is relatively low but non-zero (the complete infectivity distribution is given in Table A1). We assumed that approximately 40% of cases are asymptomatic during days 6-14 yet have a risk of onward transmission equal to 75% of symptomatic cases (Table A2) without vaccine or other non-pharmaceutical interventions (NPIs).⁵ The model assumes homogeneous mixing among individuals and does not account for any age- or location-based heterogeneities in transmission.

Table A1. Daily percentage risk of transmission by infectiousness state and clinical symptoms.

Dave next infection	Daily percentage risk of onward	Infacted person's state
Days post infection		intected person's state
1	0.00	Infoctod
2	0.00	nnecieu, not vot infostious
3	0.00	not yet intectious
4	16.78	Infectious,
5	18.03	pre-symptomatic
6	17.07	
7	14.52	
8	11.27	
9	8.10	
10	5.48	Infectious, symptomatic
11	3.55	
12	2.26	
13	1.46	
14	1.48	
Total	100	

^a Percentages show when onward transmission might occur by day of infectiousness **Sources:** He *et al.*^{2, 3} and Ferretti *et al.*⁴ See also COVIDTracer Advanced manual.¹

Table A2. Epidemiological parameters, values, and sources.

Parameter	Default Value	Source
Infected but not yet infectious period Pre-symptomatic and contagious (infectious) period	3 days 2 days	CDC COVID-19 Pandemic Planning Scenarios ⁵ He <i>et al.</i> ^{2, 3} , Ferretti <i>et al.</i> ⁴
Symptomatic and contagious (infectious) period	9 days	He <i>et al.</i> ^{2, 3} , Ferretti <i>et al.</i> ⁴
New infections per case (R_0) % of cases that are asymptomatic Infectiousness of asymptomatic cases (relative to symptomatic cases)	2.5 40% 75%	CDC COVID-19 Pandemic Planning Scenarios ⁵ CDC COVID-19 Pandemic Planning Scenarios ⁵ CDC COVID-19 Pandemic Planning Scenarios ⁵

Table A3. Assumed^a proportion of cases by age group and infection-tohospitalization rate, default values in COVIDTracer Advanced and sources.

Age group (year)	% of Total Cases	Source	% of all cases admitted to hospital care	Source
0 to 17	15		0.21	CDC COVID-19
18 to 64	55	CDC COVID Data	2.17	Response Team ⁷ , Wu
65+	30	Tracker ⁶	4.12	et al. ⁸

^a derived September 2020 using sources available at that time



Figure A1. COVIDTracer Advanced Model Structure

Notes: The model consists of individuals who are either *Susceptible* (S), *Infected but not yet Infectious* (E), *Infectious* (I), *Recovered or Died* (R). Individuals can move between these compartments as indicated by the orange arrows. The model tracks the number of individuals moving between these categories every day of the outbreak. The rate of new infections is influenced by the number of individuals in the *Infectious* (I) category (depicted by the light grey dashed lines). There are 4 types of *Infectious* individuals: cases (symptomatic or asymptomatic) who adhere to isolation guidelines because they were engaged by their health departments via case investigation and contact tracing efforts (CICT), and cases (symptomatic) who do not participate in CICT efforts. The overall risk to the *Susceptible* population of onward transmission is dependent upon both the distribution of cases among these 4 infectious categories on each day, and any reductions in transmission associated with a jurisdiction's implementation of CICT, and vaccine and other non-pharmaceutical interventions.

Case Investigation and Contact Tracing Effectiveness

The effectiveness of case investigation and contact tracing (CICT) is determined by the proportion of cases and their infected contacts that are effectively isolated and quarantined, preventing further transmission in the susceptible population. The duration of quarantine and isolation is described in Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)'s guidance.⁹ We assumed that confirmed cases are effectively isolated following case interviews. We further assumed that contacts are quarantined upon either contact notification or through active monitoring.

We calculated the average proportion of cases and contacts isolated and quarantined by CICT for each location as follows:

Step 1: We first calculated the proportion of cases that effectively isolated:

$$Compliance * \left(\frac{\# Cases that completed case interview}{Total number of cases}\right) Term A$$

Step 2: We then calculated the proportion of infected contacts that effectively quarantined:

Where:

% Contacts identified =
$$\frac{\# \text{ Contacts named by interviewed cases}}{\text{Total number of contacts}}$$
 Term B.1

and

% Contacts notified =
$$\frac{\# Contacts notified}{\# Contacts named by interviewed cases}$$
 Term B.2

The "Total number of contacts" in *Term B.1* was the expected total number of contacts generated by all cases. We estimated it by multiplying the total cases reported by a jurisdiction by the average number of contacts per case as follows:

- Step 3: We took the weighted average between the results of steps 1 and 2 (Terms A and B) by weighting quarantined contacts by R₀, since undetected infected contacts will infect R₀ additional individuals on average (or 2.5 new infections per infected contact). This resulted in the final equation:
- Average proportion of cases and contacts (which become cases) isolated by CICT = [% Cases interviewed*Compliance + (R_0 * % Contacts identified * (% Contacts monitored *Compliance + % Contacts notified but not monitored*Compliance))]/ (1+ R_0)

By populating this equation with the assumed compliance to isolation/quarantine guidance (described in Table 1), we assessed the following three scenarios.

Equation 1: Baseline Low Estimate

80% of interviewed cases and monitored contacts, and 30% of notified contacts (who are not monitored), isolate or quarantine:

Average proportion of cases and contacts (which become cases) isolated = [% Cases interviewed*0.8 + (R_0 * % Contacts identified * (% Contacts monitored *0.8 + % Contacts notified but not monitored*0.3))] / (1+ R_0)

Equation 2: Baseline High Estimate

100% of interviewed cases and monitored contacts isolate or quarantine:

Average proportion of cases and contacts (which become cases) isolated = $[\% \text{ Cases interviewed} + (R_0 * \% \text{ Contacts identified} * \% \text{ Contacts monitored})] / (1+R_0)$

Equation 3: Sensitivity Analysis (Maximum CICT Impact) Estimate

100% of interviewed cases and 100% of contacts isolate or quarantine:

Average proportion of cases and contacts (which become cases) isolated =

[% Cases interviewed + (R_0 * % Contacts identified * % Contacts notified)] / (1+ R_0)

where R_0 is the assumed number of new infections per case without any interventions and when the population is entirely susceptible to infection (Table A2). In addition, reducing the time from case identification to effective isolation is critical for case investigation and contact tracing to succeed. The longer the cases and contacts interact with the susceptible population, the greater the opportunity for onward transmission. In practice, cases with no known exposure are predominantly identified and isolated after symptom onset³, and cases with known exposures (*i.e.*, contacts that eventually become infected cases) can begin quarantine upon contact notification (even potentially prior to symptom onset). We assumed asymptomatic cases can only be identified and isolated if they are notified through case investigation and contact tracing. For the purposes of our study, we assumed the proportions of cases with no known exposure and cases with known exposures were equal (*i.e.*, 50/50 breakdown) because we did not have data on what prompted case identification in each location. Therefore, for each location the days to effective isolation between case groups with known and no known exposures. The time to effective case isolation for each of the two case groups was determined as follows:

For symptomatic cases with no known exposures (*i.e.*, symptoms prompt identification): We assumed that cases experience a 5-day pre-symptomatic period (See Table A2), get tested the day after symptom onset (*i.e.*, 6 days would have transpired since infection at the time of testing). We then obtained the number of days from testing to result notification by adding the reported "*Median days from specimen collection to case reporting to the health department (HD)*". We also assumed that confirmed cases begin isolation the day after their result notification (*i.e.*, we added 1 to the total obtained above). Our assumptions regarding the "next-day" timing of testing and entry into isolation are based on symptoms and notifications beginning or occurring throughout the day, with a sizeable portion occurring sufficiently late enough in the day to prevent testing and entry into isolation the same evening. This assumption takes into account practical considerations such as time needed to find a testing site and arrange an appointment, and for notified individuals to prepare to isolate (*e.g.*,

³ Some cases can be identified before being symptomatic (*e.g.,* during screening for various reasons)

purchasing food or medications, setting up childcare, handling work or other commitments).

For cases with known exposures (*i.e.*, those who were notified they were a contact and eventually became a case):

We first calculated the days from index case testing to their exposed contacts' notification by summing jurisdictions' reported "Median days from specimen collection to case report to the HD", "Median days from case report to the HD to the case interview completion", and "Median days from case interview completion to contacts *notification*". We assumed that contacts begin guarantine the day after receiving exposure notification from their health department (*i.e.*, we added 1 to the sum above). The "next-day" timing of entry into quarantine is based on the same practical reasoning as cases needing time to prepare to isolate once notified (described above). We then used the resultant sum from the procedure above to estimate the time (in days) from exposure to quarantine for contacts. Because we did not have information on when exposures actually occurred for contacts, we assumed that these individuals' exposures occurred at the midpoint of their potential exposure window (in days). We identified the earliest date in this window as the first day of infectiousness among cases to which contacts were exposed. Based on our assumed 5-day presymptomatic period for symptomatic cases (described above), this was two days prior to the symptom onset date in cases exposing the contact. We identified the latest possible exposure as the date the cases exposing them were interviewed by the health department (because they began isolation the next day). See both "Contacts" rows in Figure A2 for a visual depiction of this timeline.

	Day 1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	Day 9	Day 10	Days from Exposure to Isolation
Index Case	Exposed			Contagious Period Begins		Symptom Onset	Tested	Result Notification & Case Interview	Begin Isolation		8
Contacts (Earliest possible exposure)				Exposed					Exposure Notification	Begin Quarantine	6
Contacts (Latest possible exposure)								Exposed	Exposure Notification	Begin Quarantine	2

Figure A2. Illustrative example of the timing of COVID-19 case isolation and quarantine of contacts

Notes: In this hypothetical scenario, we assume a jurisdiction needed 1 day from specimen collection (testing) to result notification and 2 days from specimen collection to contact notification. The index case (symptomatic case with no known exposure) began showing symptoms on day 6 post-infection, got tested on day 7 and was notified of test result on day 8. The case's contacts (cases with known exposure) were exposed sometime between days 4 to 8 and notified of their exposure on day 9. Therefore, the index case began isolation on day 9 and contacts went into quarantine on day 10 (based on our assumptions above). To calculate the days from contacts' exposure to their quarantine, we took the average of the maximum days a contact was infected (6 days in this example based on the earliest possible exposure) and the fewest days the contact could be infected (2 days in this example, based on the latest possible exposure), and weighted each day span by the case's infectiousness on each of possible exposure days. The result is 3.9 days in this example, meaning the contact had been exposed for 3.9 days upon initiating quarantine. We then took the average between 8 days (index case) and 3.9 days (contacts) as the number of days from exposure to isolation (for both cases and contacts). This is 6 days in this example.
The days between cases with known exposures becoming infected and their exposure notification can vary from what we assumed. For example, cases may take longer to become symptomatic, or get tested the same day that they become symptomatic or begin their isolation on the same day as their results notification. Similarly, contacts who become cases may be exposed earlier or later than we assumed and may make up a larger or smaller share of the case pool. Readers interested in more detail of the influence of varying our assumed time to case isolation may wish to see Table A6 in the Technical Supplement of our 14-site study on CICT impact, containing results of a sensitivity analysis examining this topic in those jurisdictions.¹⁰

CDC's Epidemiology and Laboratory Capacity (ELC)-funded jurisdictions also reported the *Number of contacts that were notified within 1 day of case interview*, the *Number of contacts that were notified between 1-3 days after case interview*, and the *Number of contacts that were notified within 3 or more days after case interview*. We used these additional data elements as a quality check (Figure A3) of the reliability of jurisdictions' reported median values regarding notification timing (described above). We did this by calculating the lower limit of the average number of days from case interview to contact notification as follows:

0.5 days * (% contacts notified within 1 day)
+ 2 days * (% contacts notified between 1 - 3 days)
+ 3 days * (% contacts notified 3 or more days after case interview).

This metric assumes that all contacts were notified within 3 days of the case interview. We used this metric to exclude jurisdictions from the analysis (*i.e.*, deemed reported data unreliable) when the lower limit of the average time to contact notification was greater than our calculated time to contact notification using reported median days AND the proportion of contacts that were notified 3 or more days after case interview was less than 10% of total contacts (*i.e.*, too few to exert enough influence on the average lower limit for it to plausibly exceed the median-based value).

Figure A3. Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria for Analysis of Jurisdictions

64 ELC-funded Jurisdictions

(including 50 states, Washington D.C., 8 US territories, 4 city centers and 1 county)



4 cities and 1 county were excluded to focus on state-level impacts

59 States & Territories Examined for Data Quality

- # contacts identified ≥ cases that provided at least one contact
- # cases that completed an interview ≥ cases that provided at least one contact
- # contacts identified ≥ contacts notified
- # contacts identified ≥ contacts monitored
- # contacts notified ≥ contacts monitored
- lower limit of average days from case interview to contact notification ≤ median reported days from case interiew to contact notification



^a Three states included a major city or county that were separately funded by the CDC's ELC program. Their reported CICT metrics are exclusive of the separately funded locales.

Additional Results and Commentary



Figure A4. Estimated hospitalizations averted due to CICT programs from 11/25/20 – 1/23/21 (60 days)

Table A4. Summary of reported case investigation and contact tracing (CICT) data reported to CDC's ELC program and calculated CICT effectiveness for the 23 jurisdictions analyzed and all funded jurisdictions, 11/25/20–12/24/20 (30 days)

Measures	Median (Interquartile Range)				
	23 Jurisdictions analyzed	All Jurisdictions ^a			
Reported CICT ELC Program Data					
% of cases interviewed	49% (39 – 67%)	58% (39 – 74%)			
% of interviewed cases who named their contacts	25% (15 – 35%)	27% (15 – 47%)			
% of contacts who were notified	59% (37 – 72%)	64% (35 – 84%)			
% of contacts who were monitored	32% (17 – 50%)	48% (29 – 78%)			
Reported days from testing to case interview	3.5 days (3.0 – 5.0)	3.0 days (2.4 – 5.0)			
Reported days from testing to contact notification	4.0 days (3.0 – 5.2)	4.0 days (3.0 – 5.7)			
Calculated CICT Effectiveness					
% of cases and contacts isolated/quarantined (high)	19% (16 – 25%)	N/A			
% of cases and contacts isolated/quarantined (low)	17% (14 – 22%)				
Calculated days from exposure to isolation/quarantine	7.0 days (7.0 – 8.0 days)				

^a Out of 64 total ELC jurisdictions, 5 did not report CICT program data and 3 reported a zero COVID-19 case count. Summary metrics are based on the remaining 56 ELC jurisdictions that reported the following measures: % of cases interviewed (n=54); % of interviewed cases who named their contacts (n=52); % of contacts that are notified (n=53); % of contacts that are monitored (n=43); Reported days from testing to case interview (n=48); Reported days from testing to contact notification (n=45).

Low				Low CICT impact ^b				High CICT impact ^b		
Jurisdiction	% Transn	nission	Cases	Hospitalizatio	% Reduction	% Transmission		Cases	Hospitalization	% Reduction
	reduction from		Averted	ns Averted by	in cases and	reductior	n from	Averted by	s Averted by	in cases and
	Other	CICT ^d	by CICT ^e ,	CICT ^e ,	hospitalizatio	Vaccine &	CICT ^d	CICT ^e ,	CICT ^e ,	hospitalizatio
			60 days	60 days	ns by CICT',			60 days	60 days	ns by CICT',
48			007 417	E 007	10.0		0.5	050.005	C 000	15 1
1-	53.0	3.0	207,417	5,097	12.0	53.3	3.5	202,320	0,200	10.1
2	53.6	8.7	121,865	2,995	37.5	52.6	10.5	158,766	3,901	43.9
3	51.6	9.8	120,157	2,953	42.6	50.5	11.8	156,557	3,847	49.1
4	56.5	5.7	97,231	2,389	23.8	56.3	6.2	107,689	2,646	25.7
5	54.1	3.5	70,297	1,/2/	15.8	53.8	4.3	90,217	2,217	19.4
6	49.4	13.6	65,037	1,598	51.6	47.8	16.2	86,692	2,130	58.7
7 ^a	59.7	5.6	73,780	1,813	22.2	59.4	6.3	84,523	2,077	24.6
8	61.0	5.0	63,813	1,568	20.2	60.4	6.3	83,647	2,055	24.9
9	54.7	3.6	66,362	1,631	16.9	54.4	4.3	80,059	1,967	19.7
10	54.2	4.0	32,084	788	18.9	53.8	5.0	41,194	1,012	23.0
11	55.5	7.1	21,170	520	32.0	54.7	8.9	28,595	703	38.8
12	50.1	2.0	24,011	590	10.0	49.9	2.2	27,473	675	11.3
13	59.2	5.7	22,014	541	23.7	58.9	6.4	25,359	623	26.4
14	53.2	0.9	19,691	484	4.4	53.1	1.2	24,455	601	5.5
15	61.3	2.3	19,277	474	9.6	61.1	2.9	24,197	595	11.8
16	53.6	8.3	19,577	481	36.0	53.0	9.4	23,221	571	40.1
17	50.1	9.2	11,135	274	41.1	49.1	11.0	14,586	358	47.8
18	59.8	3.3	13,248	326	13.9	59.8	3.5	14,102	347	14.6
19	54.2	4.4	10,200	251	19.1	53.7	5.4	13,247	326	23.5
20	49.3	17.0	13,560	333	65.8	51.7	12.9	8,304	204	54.1
21 ª	60.4	0.4	5,921	145	1.3	60.4	0.4	7,005	172	1.6
22	58.6	0.4	5,466	134	1.5	58.6	0.5	6,452	159	1.7
23	62.9	3.4	4,858	119	13.1	62.7	3.9	5,721	141	15.1

Table A5. Estimated impacts of case investigation and contact tracing (CICT) and other interventions from 11/25/20 - 1/23/21 (60 days), by jurisdiction and CICT impact scenarios.

^a Single large city or county in these states were separate Epidemiology and Laboratory Capacity (ELC) jurisdictions and not included in this analysis.

^b Low CICT impact scenario assumes only actively monitored contacts (who later became cases) effectively quarantined/isolated. High CICT impact scenario assumes notification prompted contacts (who later became cases) to quarantine effectively. In both scenarios we assumed interviewed cases fully adhered to isolation guidelines.

^c Percent reduction in the number of new infections per case (*R*_t) due to a combination of vaccination and all other nonpharmaceutical interventions (NPIs; *e.g.*, masks use, social distancing, school/restaurant closures, etc. Calculated as the percent difference in *R*₀ and *R*_t after implementation of vaccine and other NPIs.

^d Percent reduction in the number of new infections per case (*R*_t) due to CICT after the implementation of other NPIs. Calculated as the percent difference between *R*_t after implementation of other NPIs and *R*_t after implementation of both other NPIs and CICT.

^e After accounting for the impacts from vaccination and all other NPIs.

^f Cases or hospitalizations averted by CICT out of the estimated cases or hospitalizations remaining after the implementation of vaccination and other NPIs.

Alternate approaches to simulating Epi-curves without CICT and their results

We estimated the combined effectiveness of vaccine and other non-pharmaceutical interventions (NPIs) by fitting our model to cumulative cases and assuming that the effectiveness of NPIs remained constant over the course of our 60-day evaluation period. These choices enabled us to 1) avoid the influence of transient testing accessibility and test-seeking behaviors, or data reporting artifacts (observed in many locations around the Christmas and New Year's holidays), and 2) maintain COVIDTracer Advanced's accessibility and ease-of-use for practicing public health officials. However, fitting to cumulative cases weights early cases over later cases and can inflate model fit. Also, fixing the effectiveness of NPIs may result in an over- or under-estimation of impact. We, therefore, conducted an excursion analysis to examine the influence of these choices on our estimates of averted cases and hospitalizations.

We selected eight jurisdictions for this analysis: the five with the largest estimates of averted cases (accounting for 56% of total averted cases), and three others exhibiting clear and large changes in the overall trend of incident cases within our 60-day evaluation period (jurisdictions 1-5, 7, 12, and 20 in Table A5).

For these eight jurisdictions, we repeated our fitting process, but used the incidence epicurves, and fit up to three periods using our low CICT impact scenario (Table 6, main text). The number of periods and their lengths (in days) were determined by visually examining and selecting inflection points in the 7-day moving average of the observed incidence curves of reported cases (Figure A5).

This fitting procedure reduced discrepancies between the observed cumulative case count and the fitted curve's count on the last day of our evaluation period (which we use for calculating CICT impact on cases) for 6 of the 8 evaluated jurisdictions (Figure A5). Based on the new fits, our averted case estimates decreased for five of the eight states and increased for the remaining three (Table A6). Across all eight states, we estimate that CICT potentially averted 713,752 cases and 17,539 hospitalizations, 2.0% fewer than our main estimates for the same scenario. The similarity of these results to those presented in the main text suggest our simplified fitting approach generates estimates of averted cases that are sufficiently accurate for policymakers to value the impact of CICT, while preserving a simple, easy-to-use model for public health practitioners.

Jurisdiction	% Transmission re & V	Iransmission reduction from Other NPIsCases Averted by CICT ^f ,Hospitalization& Vaccined60 daysCl60 days60			ns Averted by % Reduction in case 2T ^f , and hospitalizations Jays CICT ⁹ , 60 days		on in cases alizations by CT ⁹ , days	
	Main Results (Single, Constant NPI Effectiveness)	Alternate Fit (Up to three NPI Effectiveness Values ^h)	Main Results	Results, Alternate Fit	Main Results	Results, Alternate Fit	Main Results	Results, Alternate Fit
1 ^c	53.6	48.8, 55.2, 61.4	207,417	202,236	5,097	4,970	12.8	13.0
2	53.6	52.6, 59.1, 52.9	121,865	113,234	2,995	2,782	37.5	36.3
3	51.6	55.9, 47.9, 56.5	120,157	107,950	2,953	2,653	42.6	40.4
4	56.5	56.5, 53.9, 62.2	97,231	96,477	2,389	2,371	23.8	23.6
5	54.1	54.1	70,297	71,027	1,727	1,745	15.8	15.8
7°	59.7	59.6, 54.1	73,780	85,831	1,813	2,109	22.2	23.3
12	50.1	50.0, 48.4, 54.9	24,011	22,823	590	561	10.0	9.8
20	49.3	54.8, 34.4, 52.2	13,560	14,080	333	346	65.8	65.6

Table A6. Effect of alternate fitting methods^a on estimates of the impact of case investigation and contact tracing (CICT) from 11/25/20 – 1/23/21 (60 days), under "low" CICT impact scenario^b.

^a Using the 7-day moving incidence average for fitting and up to three periods for each jurisdiction using our low CICT impact scenario (Table 1).

^b Low impact scenario assumes 80% of actively monitored contacts (who later became cases), 30% of notified contacts effectively quarantined/isolated and 80% interviewed cases fully adhered to isolation guidelines.

^c Single large city or county in these states were separate Epidemiology and Laboratory Capacity (ELC) jurisdictions and not included in this analysis.

^d Percent reduction in the number of new infections per case (*R*_t) due to a combination of vaccination and all other nonpharmaceutical interventions (NPIs; *e.g.,* masks use, social distancing, school/restaurant closures, etc). Calculated as the percent difference in *R*₀ and *R*_t after implementation of vaccine and other NPIs.

^e Percent reduction in the number of new infections per case (*R_i*) due to CICT after the implementation of other NPIs. Calculated as the percent difference between *R_t* after implementation of other NPIs and *R_t* after implementation of both other NPIs and CICT.

^f After accounting for the impacts from vaccination and all other NPIs.

^g Cases or hospitalizations averted by CICT out of the estimated cases or hospitalizations remaining after the implementation of vaccination and other NPIs.

^h See Figure A5 for fitted curves and periods used for fitting.

Figure A5. Fitted epidemic curve outputs from COVIDTracer Advanced and observed data for the 60-day period, by jurisdiction and fitting approach

(Case counts excluded to maintain jurisdiction anonymity)

Jurisdiction 1

Fits Using Cumulative Cases



Fits Using Incident Cases' 7-day Moving Average and Multiple Fitting Periods



Fits Using Cumulative Cases



Fits Using Incident Cases' 7-day Moving Average and Multiple Fitting Periods





Fits Using Incident Cases' 7-day Moving Average and Multiple Fitting Periods



Fits Using Cumulative Cases



Fits Using Incident Cases' 7-day Moving Average and Multiple Fitting Periods



Fits Using Cumulative Cases



Fits Using Incident Cases' 7-day Moving Average and Multiple Fitting Periods*



* A single fitting period spanning the entire 60-day evaluation period maximized fit for this jurisdiction.



Fits Using Incident Cases' 7-day Moving Average and Multiple Fitting Periods*



* Two fitting periods maximized fit for this jurisdiction.



Fits Using Incident Cases' 7-day Moving Average and Multiple Fitting Periods





Fits Using Incident Cases' 7-day Moving Average and Multiple Fitting Periods



Isolation/Quarantine Compliance Scenarios: Sources and Details

A review of multiple cross-sectional population surveys in the UK suggests 40-45% of people who had COVID-like symptoms self-reported fully complying with isolation guidance during their infectious periods.¹¹ Another survey in the US found that 85% of respondents who had COVID-like symptoms or tested positive stayed home (according to CDC guidelines) except to get medical care.¹² And a third survey, also in the US, found that 93% of adults said they would definitely (73%) or probably (20%) quarantine themselves for at least 14 days if told to do so by a public health official because they had the coronavirus (*i.e.*, they were confirmed cases; not just exposed contacts).¹³

APPENDIX 4 - Instructions for using COVIDTracer Advanced Special Edition

This appendix provides the step-by-step instructions for using the COVIDTracer model to repeat the analysis described in Study 3 to estimate COVID-19 cases averted by case investigation and contact tracing activities. The Special Edition version of COVIDTracer Advanced is a modification of the publicly available tool on CDC's website that enables users to assess the impact of CICT before vaccine was widely available. Additional modifications would be required if you intend to explicitly account for vaccinated individuals (*e.g.*, decreasing susceptible population over time, decreased risk of hospitalization among vaccinated individuals, etc).

Readers seeking basic information about the model, data elements, and definitions should refer the COVIDTracer Advanced User Manual. However, some statements in the web manual are not applicable to the Special Edition version used in this analysis. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/php/contact-tracing/COVIDTracerTools.html</u>

COVIDTracer Advanced uses the Windows operating system (Microsoft Windows 2010 or higher) and Excel (Microsoft Office 2013 or higher).

Before starting, complete the following:

- Determine your 60-day study period. The first day of your study period is your "model start date." This "model start date" will be referenced later in these instructions. For example, if you are interested in estimating cases and hospitalizations averted by CICT during the 60-day period from January 1-March 1, 2021, your "model start date" is January 1, 2021.
- 2) Obtain these data for the jurisdiction of interest:
 - a. Total population
 - b. Total cases as of the day before the model start date (In the example study period above, this is the total cases reported as of December 31, 2020.)
 - c. Cases reported during the past 14 days (In the example study period above, this is the sum of cases reported from December 18 to 31, 2020.)
 - d. The case trend during the past 14 days (*e.g.*, increasing, plateaued, decreasing)
 - e. Daily (*i.e.*, incident) case counts for the 60-day study period
 - f. The following case investigation and contact tracing program metrics. These metrics are meant to be representative of the 60-day study period. If you don't have such data for the entire study period, you may base these metrics on a shorter period (*e.g.*, 30 days or 4-weeks) from the model start date (and assume they are representative of the full 60 days):

		i.	Number of da quarantine	ys from e	exposure to	case isolatio	n and contact	
		ii.	Percent (%) o quarantined	f all case	es successfi	Illy isolated a	nd contacts	
3) (Open a.	the CC When function	DVIDTracer Ad opening the sponting the sponting the transformed by the	vanced_9 preadshe	SpecialEditi eet file, click	on tool (Supp the "Enable	blement 2) Macros" butto	on for full
	b.	Enabl Optio buttor	le Excel "Solve ns \rightarrow Add-ins - n) \rightarrow select che	r Add-In.' → select eckbox fo	" Instructio "Analysis To r "Solver Ac	ns : in Excel, oolPak" → cli ld-In" and clic	click on File - ck "Go" (not t ck "Ok."	→ he "Ok"
		The S	Solver button,	?→ Solver	will appear	in the "Data"	menu.	

In worksheet, "A. Outbreak Details"

Step 1: Enter the population for the jurisdiction of interest.

Enter the population of your jurisdiction		
Total Population	1,000,000	persons

Step 2: Enter the model start date, the total number of COVID-19 cases in the jurisdiction until the day before the model start date, and the number of cases reported in the last 14 days within the jurisdiction.

Enter information about case counts in your jurisdiction		
Start Date	1/1/2021	
Total Cases as of 12/31/2020	35,000	cases
Cases in the last 14 days (from 12/18/2020 to 12/31/2020)	5,000	cases
Note: These data inputs will only create curves for the purpose of intended as non-should be integrated as forecasts of future case	of calculating resources	needs. They are not

Step 3: Set the pattern of daily cases over the past 14-day period selected in Step 3.

The default is "Daily case counts are slowly increasing." However, if daily case counts have been changing rapidly, remaining constant, or decreasing over the last 14 days, select from the pull-down menu the pattern that best matches the jurisdiction's data.

The selection of the case trend in the past 14 days determines how reported cases are distributed over the 14 days prior to the model's initiation date. Visually inspect the case trend and choose the most appropriate option. You can also run the model with different case trend patterns and pick one that yields the "best fit" (by repeating steps 3 to 6).

Enter estimates about the effectiveness of community in	nterventions impleme	nted through the p	present date
Are community interventions currently in place?	Yes		
Pattern of change in daily case counts over the last 14 days	Daily case counts are slowly increasing		How to choose?

In worksheet, "Case Counts"

Step 4: Paste the jurisdiction's daily case counts (*i.e.*, incident cases) for the 60-day study period into the "Daily" column (column AH)



In Worksheet, "B. Impact of Contact Tracing"

Step 5: Using your representative CICT program data, enter values for:

- Number of days after infection that case is isolated
- % of all cases successfully isolated and contacts traced and monitored

Set up the scenarios for contact tracing str	ategies		
Contact Tracing Strategy Input	No Contact Tracing	Continued Contact Tracing	Strategy 3 (Optional)
Number of days after infection that case is isolated	15	9	
% of all cases successfully isolated and contacts traced and monitored	0%	20.0%	
Strategy Trigger	Symptoms	Contact ID	
Contacts are identified and listed?	No	Yes	
Contacts follow-up occurs?	No	Yes	

*Successfully traced = the strategy worked as assumed and transmission to the next generation was prevented

Step 6: Estimate the % reduction in transmission due to community interventions (shown in cell G28) by fitting COVIDTracer Advanced's simulated curve to your observed case curve. You will use the Solver Add-in to do this: The Solver Add-in finds an optimal solution for the % reduction in transmission due to community intervention by minimizing the mean squared error (a mathematical value describing the differences between both curves; shown in cell O32).

Instructions for using the Solver:

From the Excel menu tab, click "Data" and the "Solver" button, then follow the instructions described here to set up the parameters in the pop-up dialogue box (see screen shot below):

Se <u>t</u> Objective:		SO\$32		1
To: O Max	● Mi <u>n</u>	○ <u>V</u> alue Of:	0	
<u>By</u> Changing Varia	ble Cells:			
\$G\$28				1
S <u>u</u> bject to the Con	straints:			
			^	<u>A</u> dd
				<u>C</u> hange
				<u>D</u> elete
				<u>R</u> eset All
				Load/Save
✓ Make Unconstr	ained Variables No	on-Negative		
S <u>e</u> lect a Solving Method:	GRG Nonlinear		~	O <u>p</u> tions
Solving Method				
Select the GRG N Simplex engine fo problems that are	onlinear engine for or linear Solver Prol e non-smooth.	r Solver Problems tha blems, and select the	t are smooth nonli Evolutionary engin	inear. Select the LP ne for Solver
		_		

Set Objective: Set objective to cell "\$O\$32", which is the mean squared error.

To: Select "Min".

By Changing Variable Cells: Enter \$G\$28 (This cell refers the Solver to the "Estimated % reduction in transmission due to continued community interventions.")

Select a Solving Method: For simplicity, we recommend selecting "GRG Nonlinear" from the drop-down menu.

Click "Solve" button.

Then the Excel Solver function will automatically find the optimal value (estimated % reduction in transmission due to continued community intervention) and populate the value in cell G28. The figure below shows a fitted curve (solid line) generated by

COVIDTracer Advanced after Step 6, that minimizes deviation from the reported case counts (dashed line).



Example Figure: Fitted curve using COVIDTracer Advanced

In Worksheet, "Results - Cases Averted"

Step 7. Users can find the % reduction in transmission due to CICT, and those that are attributable to all other interventions. The estimated number of cases and hospitalizations averted by CICT are also provided on this page.

Transmission Fraction	
Transmission Reduction from Contact Tracing	4.5%
Transmission Reduction from All Other Interventions	54.7%
Remaining Transmission [*]	43.3%

*Calculated as follows: (1-reduction from CT) * (1-reduction from other interventions)

Cases Averted, 60 days

Cases Averted by Contact Tracing	8,937
Cases Averted per 100,000 population	894
% of Additional Cases Averted by Contact Tracing**	19.7%

**Additional cases averted by contact tracing out of every 100 remaining cases after accounting for the impact of all other interventions (e.g., vaccination, facemask policies, social distancing).

Hospitalizations Averted, 60 days
Hospitalizations Averted by Contact Tracing

Hospitalizations Averted by Contact Tracing	220
Hospitalizations averted per 100,000 population	22
% of Additional Hospitalizations Averted by Contact Tracing***	19.7%

*** Additional hospitalizations averted by contact tracing out of every 100 remaining hospitalizations after accounting for the impact of all other interventions.

REFERENCES – Appendix 3

1. Adhikari BB, Arifkhanova A, Coronado F, et al. COVIDTracer Advanced: A Planning Tool to Illustrate the Resources Needed to Conduct Contact Tracing and Monitoring of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) Cases and the Potential Impact of Community Interventions and Contact Tracing Efforts on the Spread of COVID-19 https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/php/contacttracing/COVIDTracerTools.html

2. He X, Lau EHY, Wu P, et al. Temporal dynamics in viral shedding and transmissibility of COVID-19. *Nature Medicine*. 2020;26(5):672-675. doi:10.1038/s41591-020-0869-5

3. He X, Lau EHY, Wu P, et al. Author Correction: Temporal dynamics in viral shedding and transmissibility of COVID-19. *Nature Medicine*. 2020;26(9):1491-1493. doi:10.1038/s41591-020-1016-z

Ferretti L, Wymant C, Kendall M, et al. Quantifying SARS-CoV-2 transmission suggests epidemic control with digital contact tracing. *Science*. 2020;368(6491):eabb6936. doi:10.1126/science.abb6936
 CDC. COVID-19 Pandemic Planning Scenarios. Aug 5, 2021. Updated Mar 19, 2021.

https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/planning-scenarios.html

6. CDC. COVID Data Tracker. https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker/

CDC COVID-19 Response Team. Severe Outcomes Among Patients with Coronavirus Disease
 (COVID-19) — United States, February 12–March 16, 2020. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*.
 2020;69(12):343-346.

8. Wu SL, Mertens AN, Crider YS, et al. Substantial underestimation of SARS-CoV-2 infection in the United States. *Nature Communications*. 2020;11(4507)doi:https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18272-4

9. CDC. Interim Guidance on Ending Isolation and Precautions for Adults with COVID-19. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/duration-isolation.html

10. Jeon S, Rainisch G, Lash RR, et al. Estimates of cases and hospitalizations averted by COVID-19 case investigation and contact tracing in 14 health jurisdictions in the United States. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*. 2021;In Press

11. Smith LE, Potts HWW, Amlôt R, Fear NT, Michie S, Rubin GJ. Adherence to the test, trace, and isolate system in the UK: results from 37 nationally representative surveys. *BMJ*. 2021;372:n608. doi:https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n608

12. Park CL, Russell BS, Fendrich M, Finkelstein-Fox L, Hutchison M, Becker J. Americans' COVID-19 Stress, Coping, and Adherence to CDC Guidelines. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 2020;35:2296– 2303.

13. The Challenges of Contact Tracing as U.S. Battles COVID-19. 2020. October.

https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2020/10/30/the-challenges-of-contact-tracing-as-u-s-battles-covid-19/